Public Document Pack
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

CPH Climate Change, Planning and Housing
Decision Session

Thursday 30 May 2019 at 6.00pm
Civic Suite

Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?
(a)
You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.
(b)
When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, SubCommittee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:


Declare the interest if you have not already registered it



Not participate in any discussion or vote



Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with



Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of
the meeting

(c)
If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for
another person or body to deal with the matter.
Disclosable Interest
Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship

Contracts

Land
Licences
Corporate tenancies

Securities

Description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you
or your partner.
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council)
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election
expenses.
Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.
Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the Council for a month or longer.
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.
Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the
Council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
class.
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a
building society.

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors A Mackiewicz, M McLoughlin
and G Slater

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000
Democratic Services Officer Paul Rogers
Tel: 0121 704 6550
Email:paul.rogers@solihull.gov.uk
Date 21 May 2019

CPH Climate Change, Planning and Housing Decision Session
Thursday 30 May 2019
AGEDNA
1.

APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.

QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS

4.

BERKSWELL PARISH NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN
INDEPENDENT EXAMINATION (Pages 5 - 58)
To consider the report of the Independent Examiner and agree the Council’s
response to the recommendations.

5.

ST. BERNARD'S ROAD, OLTON CONSERVATION AREA ARTICLE 4 (1)
DIRECTION (Pages 59 - 68)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Meeting date:

22 May 2019

Report to:

Cabinet Member Managed Growth

Subject/report
title:

Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent
Examination

Report from:

Assistant Director – Growth and Development

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Maurice Barlow mabarlow@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☒ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To consider the report of the Independent Examiner and agree the Council's response
to the recommendations.

2.

Decision(s) recommended
The Cabinet Member is asked to:
(a)

Agree the Council’s responses to the Examiner’s recommended modifications
to the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan as set out in the
Decision Statement at Appendix A.

(b)

Agree that the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan is modified
in accordance with the Decision Statement at Appendix A and can proceed to
referendum;

(c)

Accept the Examiner’s recommendation that it is not necessary to extend the
referendum area and that the most appropriate area for the referendum will be
the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Area.

Page 5

3.

What is the issue?

3.1

A Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) is a community led plan which sets out
policies to guide the future use and development of land within a specified
Neighbourhood Area.

3.2

The regulatory process for preparation of a NDP can be summarised as follows:
Key Stage / Process Action
1. Neighbourhood
Area Designation

Parish/Town Council or Neighbourhood Forum apply to
Solihull Council for Area designation

2. Pre-Submission
Consultation

6 week consultation on draft Neighbourhood Plan
undertaken by the local community

3. Submission

Neighbourhood Plan formally submitted to Solihull Council

4. Technical
Compliance
Check

Local planning authority check that all regulatory procedures
have been followed

5. Publication

6 week consultation undertaken by Solihull Council

6. Examination

Solihull Council send Neighbourhood Plan to independent
examination

7. Plan Proposal
Decision

Solihull Council considers examiners report, including any
recommended modifications and if satisfied with the Plan
proposal, proceed to referendum

8. Referendum

Organised and funded by Solihull Council. Where 50% or
more of those voting are in favour of the draft
Neighbourhood Plan, it must be ‘made’ by the local authority
and it then forms part of the statutory Development Plan.

3.3

In July 2017 the Council approved a Neighbourhood Area application for Berkswell
Parish. As defined in Section 61G (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990,
Berkswell Parish Council is the ‘relevant body’ to prepare a NDP for the proposed area.

3.4

In accordance with the stages outlined above, a Pre-Submission draft Neighbourhood
Plan was published for consultation by Berkswell Parish Council in June 2018 and the
final Submission version of the Plan was formally submitted to the Council in October
2018.

3.5

Following a technical compliance check the Submission Neighbourhood Plan was
published for public consultation by the Council between 5 November and 21
December 2018. As a statutory consultee, the Council made representations on the
Plan which were considered and agreed by Cabinet Member at the decision session
on 17 December 2018.

Page 6

3.6

In accordance with Stage 6 above, the Council submitted the Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Development Plan for Independent Examination in January 2019.
Following consultation with Berkswell Parish Council, Mr Andrew Matheson was
appointed as the Independent Examiner of the Neighbourhood Plan. The
Examination, which included all accompanying background documents and
representations received during the consultation period, commenced on 24 January
2019 by means of written representations. An unaccompanied site visit to the
Neighbourhood Area was also carried out by the Examiner.

3.7

The Examiner’s Report was received on 9 April 2019, see Appendix B. The Examiner
concluded that he was satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan was capable of meeting
the legal requirements set out in the Localism Act 2011, including meeting the basic
conditions, subject to 27 recommended modifications outlined in his report. These are
also set out in Appendix A.

3.8

Section 12 of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, requires that
the Local Planning Authority (LPA) must consider each of the recommendations made
in the Examiner’s report and decide what action to take in response to each of them.
However, the LPA’s role at this stage is also to satisfy itself that the Plan meets the
basic conditions, or would meet those conditions if modifications were made to the
Plan (whether or not recommended by the Examiner).

3.9

In summary, for a plan to meet the basic conditions it must:
o

Have regard to national policy and guidance issued by the secretary of state

o

Have special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses

o

Have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of any conservation area

o

Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development

o

Be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the Development
Plan for the area of the Authority (or any part of that area)

o

Not breach, but otherwise be compatible with EU obligations – this includes the
SEA Directive of 2001/42/EC and Human Rights requirements.

3.10

Whilst the Examiner’s recommended modifications are not therefore binding and there
is scope for the LPA to also make modifications to the plan, the regulations set out
that the only modifications that the authority may make are those that are necessary
to ensure the Plan meets the basic conditions, or for the purposes of correcting errors.

3.11

Berkswell Parish Council is broadly satisfied with the Examiner’s recommendations,
and indeed welcomes many of the changes to the wording which respect its intentions
whilst improving the policies. However, there is one recommendation where the
reasoning behind the policy wording has been lost. This has been discussed with the
Parish Council with some additional wording in the supporting text proposed. The
Council agrees with the remaining 26 recommendations, and the response to each is
set out in Appendix A.

Page 7

3.12

The recommendation that is not agreed relates to Policy B8: Car Parking and Cycle
Storage, where the minimum standards for off-street car parking provision for new
housing proposed by the Parish Council has been changed to a criteria based policy,
similar to that used by the Council. The Examiner considered that there was no
convincing evidence for the minimum standards, which he doubted could be met
alongside the design requirements elsewhere in the NDP. The criteria recommended
by the Examiner include accessibility, the type, mix and use of development, public
transport availability, local car ownership levels and provision of spaces for charging
electric and other low emission vehicles, thereby recognising the comparatively high
levels of car ownership and poor public transport provision in the Neighbourhood
Area. In changing the supporting text, the Examiner recommends deletion of text
which explains that the policy was intended to prevent discrimination on the basis of
disability and age contrary to the requirements of the Equality Act 2010.

3.13

It is not suggested that there should be any change to the wording of Policy B8 itself,
as recommended by the Examiner. However, the addition of a sentence at the end of
paragraph 10.12 to read; ‘This is potentially discriminatory on the basis of age and
disability and contrary to the duty on public authorities to prevent such discrimination
under the Equality Act, 2010.’ would address the deficiency as recommended, and
ensure that the basic conditions are met. This wording has been discussed with and
formally agreed by the Parish Council.

3.14

The Council should recognise that once the recommended changes have been made
to the NDP, there may still be a need for some minor editorial amendments to ensure
the document reads well. A full review of the final version of the NDP as a whole will
be undertaken accordingly.

3.15

The regulations set out that when a local authority proposes to make a decision which
differs from that recommended by the Examiner, representations must be invited.
However, this further consultation is only required when a departure from the
Examiner’s recommendation is based on new evidence. In this case, new evidence is
not being introduced and further consultation is not considered to be necessary.

3.16

Finally, if the Examiner recommends that the NDP should proceed to referendum, he
must advise whether the referendum area should be extended. This may occur where
a proposal in the NDP will have a substantial direct impact beyond the NDP area. In
this case, it is considered that the most appropriate area for the referendum will be the
Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Area as designated.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

If the authority is satisfied that, subject to the modifications made, the draft
Neighbourhood Plan meets the legal requirements and basic conditions as set out in
legislation, a referendum must be held. If the Local Authority is not satisfied that the
plan meets the basic conditions and legal requirements then it must refuse the
proposal.

4.2

The Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan has been independently

Page 8

examined and found to meet the basic conditions subject to the recommended
modifications. The Examiner has recommended that the Plan should proceed to
referendum.
4.3

In accordance with the regulations, the Council has decided what action it proposes to
take in response to each of the Examiner’s recommendations and it has been
considered necessary to make further modifications to ensure the Plan meets the
basic conditions.

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

The Council is satisfied that subject to the agreed modifications recommended by the
Examiner, together with the additional modifications by the LPA, the Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic conditions and should proceed to
referendum.

5.2

Failure to take the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan forward to
referendum would therefore be a failure of the Council’s statutory duty as set out
above.

6.

Next Steps

6.1

The Council must formally publish the decision it has made on the Examiner’s
recommended modifications and whether the plan meets the basic conditions, or
would meet those conditions if modifications were made to the Plan, and should
proceed to referendum. A date of 31 May 2019 has been agreed with the Parish
Council for publication of the decision.

6.2

The Council is then required to organise a referendum on the Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Development Plan within 56 days (excluding weekends and bank
holidays) of the publication of the decision to proceed to referendum.

6.3

Subject to agreement from Cabinet Member that the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood
Development Plan can proceed, a referendum must be held by the middle of August,
2019.

6.4

The question to be asked at the referendum is set out in the Neighbourhood Planning
(Referendums) Regulations 2012 as follows:
Do you want Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council to use the Neighbourhood
Plan for Berkswell Parish to help it decide planning applications in the
neighbourhood area?

6.5

In order for the plan to be ‘made’ (i.e. brought into force) a majority of those voting
must vote in favour of the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

Page 9

7.

Implications and Considerations

7.1

Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:
How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key
themes in the Council Plan? (select which themes apply and briefly state how the
options / proposals in this report contribute to their delivery):

7.2

☐

Improve Health and Wellbeing -

☒

Managed Growth -

☒

Build Stronger Communities -

☐

Deliver Value -

Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular
communities:

7.2.1 None identified.
7.3

Consultation and Scrutiny:

7.3.1 In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations, the Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Development Plan has been published for consultation at presubmission and submission stage. This has provided interested stakeholders with the
opportunity to comment on the plan.
7.3.2 In addition, the Council has publicised all consultation details and information about
the Plan on its website, and where appropriate, Twitter feed and Stay Connected
bulletin. No scrutiny issues have been identified at any stage in the process.
7.4

Financial implications:

7.4.1 The staff time associated with providing support to areas currently undertaking
neighbourhood planning is funded through the existing Planning, Design and
Engagement Services budget. The Council is required to organise and pay for the
independent Examination of a Neighbourhood Plan and any subsequent referendum.
However, through the Neighbourhood Planning Grant, £20,000 can be reclaimed once
a date has been set for a referendum following a successful Examination.
7.5

Legal implications:

7.5.1 Section 12 of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, requires that
the LPA must consider each of the recommendations made in the Examiner’s report
and decide what action to take in response to each of them. However, the LPAs role
at this stage is to also satisfy itself that the Plan meets the basic conditions, or would
meet those conditions if modifications were made to the Plan (whether or not
recommended by the Examiner).

Page 10

7.5.2 The regulations make provision for the LPA to make modifications to the Plan if they
are considered necessary to meet the basic conditions. If the LPA are satisfied that
the basic conditions are met, a referendum must be held on the making of the
Neighbourhood Plan. The Plan on which the referendum is to be held is the draft Plan
subject to such modifications (if any) as the LPA consider appropriate.
7.5.3 Solihull Council has a legal obligation to assist Parish / Town Councils and
Neighbourhood Forums with the process of preparing NDPs, if requests come
forward. Although the regulations do not require local planning authorities to give
financial assistance to such groups, as outlined above, the Council is required to
organise and pay for the independent examination of a plan and the referendum.
7.6

Risk implications:

7.6.1 None identified.
7.7

Statutory Equality Duty:

7.7.1 The modification proposed by the Council and supported by Berkswell Parish Council
recognises the importance of Policy B8 in ensuring that the NDP meets the Equality
Act 2010.
8.

List of appendices referred to

8.1

Appendix A – Decision Statement

8.2

Appendix B – Examiner’s Report

9.

Background papers used to compile this report

9.1

Berkswell Parish Submission Neighbourhood Development Plan2018-2033

9.2

Report of the Independent Examiner to Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council on the
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan

10.

List of other relevant documents

10.1

None.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A - Decision Statement: Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan
Examiner’s Recommendations and Local Authority’s Response (Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012)
This Appendix provides a detailed assessment of the Examiner’s recommended modifications to the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan.
The table below sets out the Examiner’s recommended modifications and his reasons for these modifications. In accordance with Regulation 18 of The
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, the Local Planning Authority must decide what action to take in response to each of the Examiner’s
recommendations. The table also sets out the Council’s draft decision and the reasons for its decision, along with the changes that are required to the
Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan.
In most cases the changes made to the Berkswell Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan will be those as recommended by the Examiner. However, for
one recommendation, additional minor wording modifications are proposed by the LPA in order meet the basic conditions.
Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

Front cover

Recommendation 1:
Remove the “Submission Plan Autumn 2018”
label on the front cover.

For clarity.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modification
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 2 Contents

Recommendation 2:
Review the “Contents” pages once the text has
been amended to accommodate the
recommendations from this Report.

For clarity and accuracy.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modification
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 3 and 4
Section 1 What is
a Neighbourhood
Development
Plan

Recommendation 3:
Remove the section “What is a Neighbourhood
Development Plan?” on page 3 and renumber
subsequent sections accordingly.

For clarity.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modification
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 8 paragraph

Recommendation 4:

For clarity.

Examiner’s comments noted and

Plan to be modified as

Page 13

No/Policy/para)

1

These changes will be incorporated in the Referendum Version of the Plan.

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

recommended modification
agreed.

recommended by the
Examiner.

No/Policy/para)

Add a footnote reference for the “NDP website”
mentioned in paragraph 3.8.

Page 11 NDP
Objectives

Recommendation 5:
Add after the statement of Objectives on page
11: ‘Not all of these Objectives will be pursued
through the land-use Neighbourhood Plan and an
Appendix addresses other actions for the Parish
Council’.

For clarity.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modification
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 12 to 14
Section 5 Housing
in Balsall
Common

Recommendation 6:
Under the sub-heading “5.Housing in Balsall
Common”:
6.1 In paragraph 5.1 delete the last sentence:
“See Maps in Appendix 2.”
6.2 In the last sentence of paragraph 5.16 delete
“minimum”.

For clarity and correction.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 15
Policy B1: New
Housing –
General Principles

Recommendation 7.1:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General
Principles as follows:
7.1 Reword criterion 1 as: ‘The reuse of
brownfield sites will be preferred to the loss of
greenfield land’.

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 15 to 16
Policy B1: New
Housing –
General Principles

Recommendation 7.2 – 7.5:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General
Principles as follows:
7.2 Combine criteria 2b, 2c & 2d and reword as

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 14

3.8

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

No/Policy/para)

Page 15

follows: ‘Layouts should be designed to help
facilitate social cohesion and community security.
In the Berkswell Neighbourhood Area context this
suggests that larger developments should have
character areas of around 250 dwellings and all
developments should aim for clusters of around
20 dwellings. Good legibility7 is required but the
security and amenity of the development should
not be compromised by excessive through route
permeability’; renumber subsequent criteria
accordingly.
7.3 In criterion 2e replace the wording after
“pavements” with ‘and tree planting wherever
possible’ (picked up from Policy B3).
7.4 In criterion 2f add ‘attractive and’ before
accessible.
7.5 Combine criteria 2g, 2i and 2j to read: ‘Quality
public open and children’s play space should be
provided in accordance with the Solihull Green
Space Strategy Review8 or the successor
document. New open and play spaces should
normally be located between new and existing
housing to serve the whole community; play
spaces should benefit from natural surveillance.
Where this location of the open space is not
feasible, to help the transition the distance
between new and existing dwellings should be
toward the upper end of the range in the Solihull
Housing Development Guidelines SPG6 or

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

No/Policy/para)

successor document ie around 30m’; renumber
criterion 2k accordingly.
Pages 16 to 17
Policy B1: New
Housing –
General Principles

Page 16

Recommendation 7.6 – 7.10:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General
Principles as follows:
7.6 Simplify criterion 3a as: ‘A site specific survey
should identify which mature trees and
hedgerows make the most significant
contribution to local landscape character and
biodiversity and should therefore be retained and
protected. New planting to replace losses or
enhancing existing planting should use
characteristic native species.’
7.7 Within criterion 3b put the full name of the
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 alongside the acronym and provide a
footnote source reference; in the second
sentence add ‘may’ between “habitats” and
“include”.
7.8 At the request of the Environment Agency
add an additional criterion (as c with subsequent
numbers amended accordingly) as follows: ‘All
new development should be located within Flood
Zone 1 and where this is not viable, development
must be steered to land at the lowest flood risk,
following the application of the Sequential Test’.
7.9 Within criterion 3c add a footnote source
reference for the SuDS hierarchy.

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

Recommendation 7.11 – 7.14:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General
Principles as follows:
7.11 For clarity, simplify criterion 4a by removing
“overlook, existing 2 storey properties and their
position and design enhances the development.
Such development should not”.
7.12 Reword criterion 4c as: ‘Provision should be
made per dwelling for electric vehicle charging’.
7.13 Within criterion 4d delete “and grouped
together to create design compatibility’.
7.14 Reword criterion 4e as: ‘Suitable provision
should be made within curtilages for secure
storage and refuse/recycling bin enclosures’.

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 17 to 18
Policy B1: New
Housing –
General Principles

Recommendation 7.15 – 7.16:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General
Principles as follows:
7.15 Within criterion 5a replace “. The mix should
include but not be limited to” with ‘such as’.
7.16 Delete criterion 5c (as it duplicates an item
within 5a).

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 18
Policy B1: New

Recommendation 7.17:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the

No/Policy/para)

7.10 Within criterion 3d replace “landscape
buffer zones” with ‘narrow corridors’ and delete
the second sentence (section 2 having addressed
this matter).
Pages 17
Policy B1: New
Housing –
General Principles

Page 17

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Examiner.

No/Policy/para)

Principles as follows:
7.17 Delete the last sentence of the Policy
beginning “Where developers consider…”

Page 19
Section 6 Housing
in the Rural Area

Recommendation 8:
Replace the footnote presently on page 19 with a
reference to the NPPF 2019 Glossary.

For clarity and correction.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 20
Policy B2: Rural
Exception Local
Needs Housing in
Berkswell Village

Recommendation 9:
Within Policy B2:
9.1 Number the paragraphs.
9.2 In the first line make “development” plural
and add ‘around’ between “of” and “1”.

For clarity.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 21 to 25
Section 7
Protecting Rural
Area and Local
Landscape
Character

Recommendation 10:
Under the heading “Protecting [the] Rural Area
and Local Landscape Character”:
10.1 Delete paragraph 7.5 and renumber
subsequent paragraphs accordingly.
10.2 Within the first bullet point of paragraph
7.10 add ‘(sic) after the word “boarded”.
10.3 Add footnotes to reference the HER and the
Preliminary Ecological Report in paragraphs 7.14
and 7.19 respectively.

For clarity and to meet Basic
Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by
Examiner.

Page 32
Policy B3:
Protecting Local
Landscape and

Recommendation 11:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local
Landscape and Built Character” and “Landscape
Character”:

For clarity and to meet Basic
Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 18

Housing –
General Principles

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

No/Policy/para)

Built Character
Landscape
Character

Page 19

11.1 Within criterion 1 between “character” and
“as” add ‘within the Neighbourhood Area’; add a
footnote reference for the Solihull Borough
Landscape Character Assessment.
11.2 Combine criteria 2 & 3 and reword as
follows:
‘Landscape features of heritage or wildlife value
(as identified in the Historic Environment
Summary Report* and the Preliminary Ecological
Report*) should be conserved according to their
significance. Where mitigation measures are
appropriate the evidence based proposals should
include for locally-appropriate features such as
tree-planting, hedges and ponds.’
[* indicates footnote required]

Page 32
Policy B3:
Protecting Local
Landscape and
Built Character
Built Character

Recommendation 12:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local
Landscape and Built Character” and “Built
Character”:
12.1 Swap criteria 2 & 3.
12.2 Within the renumbered criterion 3 delete
the wording after “roofs”.

For clarity and to meet Basic
Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 32 to 33
Policy B3:
Protecting Local
Landscape and
Built Character
Heritage Assets

Recommendation 13:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local
Landscape and Built Character” and “Heritage
Assets”:
13.1 For clarity in criterion 1 replace “between”
with ‘with’ and delete “and any aspect of the

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

Recommendation 14:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local
Landscape and Built Character” and “Large
Agricultural Buildings in the Open Countryside”,
in the latter heading replace “Agricultural” with
‘Non-residential’.

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Recommendation 15:
Under the heading “Local Green Spaces”:
15.1 Reword paragraph 7.28 as: ‘One site is
proposed as a Local Green Space for protection in
Policy B4. This is the triangle of land off Lavender
Hill; Lane which includes the football ground –
see Map 4.
15.2 Delete paragraphs 7.29 & 7.30 and
renumber 7.31 as 7.29.
15.3 In paragraph 7.31 delete “second”.

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

No/Policy/para)

Page 20

Page 33
Policy B3:
Protecting Local
Landscape and
Built Character
Large Agricultural
Buildings in the
Open Countryside
Pages 34 to 37
Local Green
Spaces

proposal”.
13.2 Within criterion 2:
13.2.1 Replace the first sentence with: ‘The
Parish’s heritage assets should be conserved in a
manner appropriate to their significance;
13.2.2 Delete the second sentence (as it repeats
criterion 1);
13.2.3 Within the third sentence replace the
words “whether it has been” with ‘as appropriate
it should be’.
13.3 Delete criterion 5.

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

No/Policy/para)

15.4 Delete pages 35 – 37; on page 38 delete
“Table 2” from the heading; on page 40 amend
“Map 4b” to ‘Map 4’.
Recommendation 16:
Reword Policy B4 as:
‘The following green area as shown on Map 4 is
designated as a Local Green Space:
The Football Ground on Lavender Hall Lane,
Balsall Common.’

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 45
Policy B5:
Berkswell
Conservation
Area
New Buildings
Page 45
Policy B5:
Berkswell
Conservation
Area
Extensions

Recommendation 17:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell
Conservation Area” and “New Buildings” within
criterion 5 delete “usually traditional ones”.

For clarity and to meet Basic
Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Recommendation 18:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell
Conservation Area” and “Extensions” within
criterion 2 replace “fully justifiable” with ‘fully
justified’.

For clarity and correction.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Recommendation 19:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell
Conservation Area” and “Conversions”:
19.1 Replace the heading “Conversions” with
‘Conversion or Sub-Division of Non-Residential
Properties’.
19.2 Replace the opening sentence with:

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 21

Page 41
Policy B4: Local
Green Spaces

Page 45 to 46
Policy B5:
Berkswell
Conservation
Area
Conversions

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

No/Policy/para)

‘Proposals for conversion or sub-division will be
supported where the existing building can
accommodate such alteration without substantial
or complete rebuilding, and where the alterations
do not detract from the character of the original
building, the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area, or the special interest and
setting of any relevant listed buildings.’
Recommendation 20:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell
Conservation Area” and “Views and Open
Spaces” in criterion 2 replace “maintained” with
‘conserved’.

For clarity and to meet Basic
Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Recommendation 21:
Under the heading “Policy B6: Conversions of
Former Agricultural Buildings”:
21.1 Add to the title ‘in the Open Countryside’.
21.2 Add paragraph numbering.
21.3 Within the first criterion replace “sensitive
to the existing character and form” with
‘sensitive to the existing character, form and any
special designation”.
21.4 Within the fourth criterion delete the first
and last sentences and add ‘or if necessary made
suitable’ between “suitable” and “and”.

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 50 to 51

Recommendation 22:

For clarity and to meet Basic

Examiner’s comments noted and

Plan to be modified as

Page 22

Page 46
Policy B5:
Berkswell
Conservation
Area
Views and Open
Spaces
Page 47 to 48
Policy B6:
Conversions of
Former
Agricultural
Buildings

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

Within Policy B7 at the end of the first sentence
add ‘provided these do not fall within Flood Zone
3’.

Conditions 1 & 3.

recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

recommended by the
Examiner.

Recommendation 23:
23.1 Delete paragraph 10.13 except for the
sections 4 & 5 within that (which add information
to that in paragraphs 10.11 & 10.12) which
should be given their own paragraph numbers
and paragraph 10.14 renumbered accordingly.
23.2 Reword Policy B8 as follows:
‘Development proposals must have appropriate
regard for the higher levels of car ownership
evident within the Berkswell Neighbourhood
Area. Whilst suitable parking provision must be
integral to the design of schemes, the number of
off-street parking spaces for residents and
visitors should be justified and provided on the
basis of an assessment of:
a) the accessibility of the development;
b) the type, mix and use of development;
c) the availability of and opportunities for public
transport;
d) local car ownership levels; and
e) the need to ensure an adequate provision of
spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low
emission vehicles.
As far as is practical, the guidance provided

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Conditions 1 & 3.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in part.
However, the Examiner
recommends the deletion of text
in the introductory paragraph
10.13 to the policy, which explains
the justification for the policy. This
sought to prevent parking on
pavements thereby causing
obstruction of mobility scooters,
wheelchairs, prams and buggies
and indirectly discriminating on
the basis of age and disability,
contrary to the Equality Act, 2010.
Amendments to the Examiner’s
recommended wording are
therefore proposed in order to
meet the basic conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.
The only exception to
this is the text of the
introductory
paragraphs to the
policy. The LPA has
included an additional
sentence at the end of
paragraph 10.12 to
read as follows:
‘This is potentially
discriminatory on the
basis of age and
disability and contrary
to the duty on public
authorities to prevent
such discrimination
under the Equality Act,
2010.’

No/Policy/para)

Policy B7:
Improving Car
Parking Facilities
at Berkswell
Station
Pages 51 to 54
Section 10 and
Policy B8: Car
Parking and Cycle
Storage

Page 23

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

Recommendation 24:
In Policy B9 add “where applicable” to paragraph
1 between “should” and “include”.

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Recommendation 25:
Within the first paragraph of Policy B10:
25.1 Move the “and” from the end of criterion 2
to the end of criterion 1.
25.2 Alter criterion 3 to become a second
paragraph for the Policy and reword as:
‘Where proposals are for the reuse or conversion
of former agricultural buildings, workshops or
previously used brownfield sites they should
demonstrate appropriate regard for Policy B6.’

For clarity and correction and to
meet Basic Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Page 61
Section 12 Next
Steps

Recommendation 26:
Replace the content under and the heading “12.
Next Steps” with a new heading ‘Review’ and
new content: ‘The Qualifying Body will monitor
the impact of the Plan and undertake a review of
the Plan no later than 3 years after the adoption
of the new Local Plan.’

For clarity

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications
agreed.

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the
Examiner.

Pages 62 to 70
Appendices

Recommendation 27:

For clarity and to meet Basic
Condition 1.

Examiner’s comments noted and
recommended modifications

Plan to be modified as
recommended by the

No/Policy/para)

within the Manual for Streets17 and Secured by
Design should inform the location and design of
vehicle and cycle parking provision.

Page 24

Page 56
Policy B9:
Improving
Accessibility for
All
Pages 59 to 60
Policy B10:
Supporting Local
Businesses

Berkswell Parish
Submission Plan
Ref: (Section/Page

Examiner’s Recommended Modification

Examiner’s Reason(s)

Council’s Draft Decision and
Reason(s)

Change to the
Berkswell Parish
Neighbourhood Plan1

agreed in order to meet the basic
conditions.

Examiner.

No/Policy/para)

27.1 Delete Appendices 1 & 2.
27.2 Bring together Appendices 3, 4 & 5 as an
Annex for non-planning content.

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

BERKSWELL NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2033

The Report of the Independent Examiner to Solihull Metropolitan Borough
Council on the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan

Andrew Matheson MSc MPA DipTP MRTPI FCIH
Independent Examiner
8th April 2019

Page 27

Summary
I was appointed by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, in agreement with the Berkswell
Parish Council, in January 2019 to undertake the Independent Examination of the Berkswell
Neighbourhood Development Plan.
The Examination has been undertaken by written representations. I visited the
Neighbourhood Area on 15th March 2019.
The Neighbourhood Development Plan proposes a local range of policies and seeks to bring
forward positive and sustainable development in the Berkswell Neighbourhood Area. There
is an evident focus on safeguarding the very distinctive, largely rural character of the area
whilst accommodating future change and growth.
The Plan has been underpinned by extensive community support and engagement. The
social, environmental and economic aspects of the issues identified have been brought
together into a coherent plan which adds appropriate local detail to sit alongside the Solihull
Metropolitan Borough Council Local Plan 2013.
Subject to a series of recommended modifications set out in this Report I have concluded
that the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan meets all the necessary legal
requirements and should proceed to referendum.
I recommend that the referendum should be held within the Neighbourhood Area.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 28

Page 1

Report Index
Introduction
The Role of the Independent Examiner
Berkswell Neighbourhood Area
Consultation
Representations Received

Page
3
3
4
5
6

The Neighbourhood Development Plan
Basic Conditions
The Plan in Detail:
Front Cover
Contents
1. What is a Neighbourhood Development Plan?
2. A Portrait of Berkswell Parish
3. An NDP for Berkswell
4. Vision and Objectives
5. Housing in Balsall Common
6. Housing in the Rural Area
7. Protecting Rural Area and Landscape Character
8. Protecting Berkswell Conservation Area
9. Conversion of Former Agricultural Buildings
10. Accessibility and Infrastructure
11. Business
12. Next Steps
Appendices
Other matters raised in representations
EU and ECHR Obligations

7
7
8
8
8
8
9
9
9
9
13
13
18
19
19
21
21
22
22
23

Conclusions
Listing of Recommendations

24
25

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 29

Page 2

Introduction
This report sets out the findings of the Independent Examination of the Berkswell
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2018 - 2033. The Plan was submitted to Solihull
Metropolitan Borough Council by Berkswell Parish Council in their capacity as the ‘qualifying
body’ responsible for preparing the Neighbourhood Development Plan.
Neighbourhood Development Plans were introduced into the planning process by the
Localism Act 2011. They aim to allow local communities to take responsibility for guiding
development in their area. This approach was subsequently incorporated within the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 2012 and this continues to be the principal element of
national planning policy. A new NPPF was published in July 2018 (and updated in February
2019) but the transitional arrangements in para 214 Appendix 1 on Implementation apply
and thus this Examination is unaffected by the changed NPPF; accordingly all references to
the NPPF in this Report are to the original 2012 NPPF document (unless otherwise
indicated).
This report assesses whether the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan is legally
compliant and meets the ‘basic conditions’ that such plans are required to meet. It also
considers the content of the Plan and, where necessary, recommends modifications to its
policies and supporting text. This report also provides a recommendation as to whether the
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan should proceed to referendum. If this is the
case and that referendum results in a positive outcome, the Berkswell Neighbourhood
Development Plan would then be used in the process of determining planning applications
within the Plan boundary as an integral part of the wider Development Plan.

The Role of the Independent Examiner
The Examiner’s role is to ensure that any submitted Neighbourhood Development Plan
meets the legislative and procedural requirements. I was appointed by Solihull Metropolitan
Borough Council, in agreement with Berkswell Parish Council, to conduct the examination of
the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan and to report my findings. I am
independent of both Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council and Berkswell Parish Council. I
do not have any interest in any land that may be affected by the Plan.
I possess the appropriate qualifications and experience to undertake this role. I have over 40
years’ experience in various local authorities and third sector bodies as well as with the
professional body for planners in the United Kingdom. I am a Chartered Town Planner and a
panel member for the Neighbourhood Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service
(NPIERS). I am a Member of the Royal Town Planning Institute.
In my role as Independent Examiner I am required to recommend one of the following
outcomes of the Examination:
 the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan is submitted to a referendum; or
 the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan should proceed to referendum
as modified (based on my recommendations); or
 the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan does not proceed to referendum
on the basis that it does not meet the necessary legal requirements.
As part of this process I must consider whether the submitted Plan meets the Basic
Conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990. If recommending that the Neighbourhood Development Plan should go forward to
referendum, I must then consider whether or not the referendum area should extend beyond
the Neighbourhood Area to which the Plan relates.
In examining the Plan, I am also required, under paragraph 8(1) of Schedule 4B to the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990, to check whether:
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 30

Page 3



the policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated Neighbourhood
Area in line with the requirements of Section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004;
 the Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the requirements of Section 38B of the
2004 Act (the Plan must specify the period to which it has effect, must not include
provision about development that is excluded development, and must not relate to more
than one Neighbourhood Area);
 the Neighbourhood Development Plan has been prepared for an area that has been
designated under Section 61G of the Localism Act and has been developed and
submitted for examination by a qualifying body.
These are helpfully covered in the submitted Basic Conditions Statement and, subject to the
contents of this Report, I can confirm that I am satisfied that each of the above points has
been properly addressed and met.
In undertaking this examination I have considered the following documents:
 Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan (Autumn 2018) as submitted
 Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Basic Conditions Statement (Autumn
2018)
 Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Consultation Statement (undated)
 Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening
Report (May 2018)
 Content at: https://berkswellparishcouncil.org.uk/projects/ndp
 Content at:
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/resident/planning/appealsenforcement/planmaking/neighbo
urhoodplanning
 Representations made to the Regulation 16 public consultation on the Berkswell
Neighbourhood Development Plan
 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council Local Plan 2013
 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Draft Local Plan Supplementary Consultation (January
2019)
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012 & 2019)
 Neighbourhood Development Planning Regulations (2012)
 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (March 2014 and subsequent updates)
I carried out an unaccompanied visit to the Neighbourhood Area on 15th March 2019. I
looked at Berkswell and Balsall Common and their rural hinterland. I also viewed the
Berkswell Conservation Area and all the various sites and locations identified in the Plan
document.
The legislation establishes that, as a general rule, Neighbourhood Development Plan
examinations should be held without a public hearing, by written representations only.
Having considered all the information before me, including the representations made to the
submitted plan which I felt made their points with clarity, I was satisfied that the Berkswell
Neighbourhood Development Plan could be examined without the need for a public hearing
and I advised Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council accordingly. The Qualifying Body has
helpfully responded to my enquiries so that I may have a thorough understanding of the
thinking behind the Plan, and the correspondence has been shown on the Solihull
Metropolitan Borough Council Neighbourhood Development Planning website for the
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Area
A map showing the boundary of the Berkswell Neighbourhood Area has been provided
within the Neighbourhood Development Plan. Further to an application made by Berkswell
Parish Council, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council approved the designation of the
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 31

Page 4

Neighbourhood Area on 18th July 2017. This satisfied the requirement in line with the
purposes of preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan under section 61G(1) of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Consultation
In accordance with the Neighbourhood Development Planning (General) Regulations 2012,
the qualifying body has prepared a Consultation Statement to accompany the Plan.
The Planning Practice Guidance says:
“A qualifying body should be inclusive and open in the preparation of its Neighbourhood
Development Plan [or Order] and ensure that the wider community:
 is kept fully informed of what is being proposed
 is able to make their views known throughout the process
 has opportunities to be actively involved in shaping the emerging Neighbourhood
Development Plan [or Order]
 is made aware of how their views have informed the draft Neighbourhood
Development Plan [or Order].” (Reference ID: 41-047-20140306)
I note that a Steering Committee of Parish Councillors, representatives of the two residents’
associations and interested local residents from Balsall and Berkswell Parish held its
inaugural meeting in June 2017. An Issues and Options document was subsequently
prepared which included a number of key questions to help guide residents to consider the
key planning issues and this was consulted upon from September to October 2017. As part
of the publicising of the issues and related drop-in sessions, every household in Berkswell
Parish received a hand delivered copy of a leaflet (1,390 households). Posters and banners
were placed around both Berkswell and Balsall Parish and the Parish Council wrote to a
number of community organisations and to neighbouring Parish Councils inviting input.
Around 220 local people attended the drop-in events, over 400 questionnaire responses
were submitted from local residents and groups and over 1000 written suggestions were
made by residents. To bring structure to these comments the Steering Committee employed
a Japanese quality analysis technique called an “affinity diagram” to find common themes.
In parallel with the public consultation the Steering Committee undertook a survey of as
many local businesses as could be identified from extensive research and local knowledge.
19 responses were received providing information about the key issues facing local
employers and the Berkswell Parish economy. Special efforts were also made to engage
with the younger members of the community; these efforts included a special consultation at
the Heart of England secondary school and just over a third of the eligible students replied
(with one of the students undertaking the analysis).
The First Draft Plan was published for informal public consultation from March to April 2018
to allow local residents and stakeholders to consider the emerging draft Neighbourhood
Development Plan (NDP) policies and to provide comments. Approximately 3700 NDP packs
were hand-delivered containing an explanatory letter covering the process and where to get
more information, a 4- page summary of the First Draft Plan, and a questionnaire with prepaid return envelopes and an on line option to return representations and comments.
Publicity included seven banners advertising the drop-in sessions placed at key locations.
An impressive 684 completed paper copies were received, alongside 239 completed online,
making a total of 923 responses overall. Following consideration of the responses to the
consultation process the First Draft Plan was reviewed, amended and finalised as a Draft
Plan. The Regulation 14 public consultation on this was held from 18th June to 31st July
2018. Tables setting out the responses were subsequently published, the Plan revised as
required and then submitted to Solihull MBC.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 32

Page 5

Throughout the plan-making process a dedicated NDP website provided updates on the
progress of the NDP and the minutes and agendas of Steering Committee meetings as well
as access to background documents and the evidence base which support the policies and
proposals in the Plan. The local publication The Bugle, published quarterly, was used to
provide background briefing sessions and updates to residents, including consultation
feedback but core to the communication strategy for the whole NDP process was the use of
the Balsall Common Village Residents Association (BCVRA) e-newsletter and the Berkswell
Society e-newsletter plus the schools’ e-parent mail systems These were supplemented by
mail drops, notice boards, facebook, posters/banners etc. and face to face drop in sessions.
I am therefore satisfied that the consultation process accords with the requirements of the
Regulations and the Practice Guidance and that, in having regard to national policy and
guidance, the Basic Conditions have been met. In reaching my own conclusions about the
specifics of the content of the Plan I will later note points of agreement or disagreement with
Regulation 16 representations, just as the Qualifying Body has already done for earlier
consultations. That does not imply or suggest that the consultation has been inadequate,
merely that a test against the Basic Conditions is being applied.

Representations Received
Consultation on the submitted Plan, in accordance with Neighbourhood Development
Planning Regulation 16, was undertaken by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council from
Monday 5th November until Friday 21st December 2018. I have been passed a significant
number of representations – 46 in total – which is too many list here but a summary
schedule has been included alongside the details of the Plan on the Solihull MBC
Neighbourhood Planning website. I have not mentioned every representation individually
within the Report but this is not because they have not been thoroughly read and considered
in relation to my Examiner role, rather their detail may not add to the pressing of my related
recommendations which must ensure that the Basic Conditions are met.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 33

Page 6

The Neighbourhood Development Plan
The Berkswell Parish Council is to be congratulated on its extensive efforts to produce a
Neighbourhood Development Plan for their area that will guide development activity over the
period to 2033. I can see that a sustained effort has been put into developing a Plan with a
vision for 2033 that “Berkswell Parish is and will remain a pleasant and safe place to bring
up families; it will continue to be a supportive and inclusive society; it will remain distinct from
the neighbouring conurbations by protecting the rural environment within the Meriden gap
but have good transport links and modern and enhanced communications. The many historic
features that emphasise and enhance the rural character of Berkswell, whether in the
countryside or built environment, will be conserved and new development will be designed to
be sensitive to our local heritage, character and distinctiveness”. The Plan document is well
presented with a distinctive combination of text, images and Policies that are, subject to the
specific points that I make below, well laid out and helpful for the reader. The Plan has been
kept to a manageable length by not overextending the potential subject matter and the
coverage of that.
The wording of some content & Policies is not always as well-expressed as one might wish,
but that is not uncommon in a community-prepared planning document and something that
can readily be addressed. It is an expectation of Neighbourhood Development Plans that
they should address the issues that are identified through community consultation, set within
the context of higher level planning policies. There is no prescribed content and no
requirement that the robustness of proposals should be tested to the extent prescribed for
Local Plans. Where there has been a failure by the Qualifying Body to address an issue in
the round, leading to an inadequate statement of policy, it is part of my role wherever
possible to see that the community’s intent is sustained in an appropriately modified wording
for the policy. It is evident that the community has made positive use of “direct power to
develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and shape the development and growth of
their local area” (Planning Practice Guidance Reference ID: 41-001-20140306). It is evident
that the Qualifying Body understands and has addressed the requirement for sustainable
development.
Having considered all the evidence and representations submitted as part of the
Examination I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to national planning
policies and guidance in general terms. It works from a positive vision for the future of the
Neighbourhood Area and promotes policies that are, subject to some amendment,
proportionate and sustainable. The Plan sets out the community needs it will meet whilst
identifying and safeguarding Berkswell’s distinctive features and character. The plan-making
had to find ways to reconcile the external challenges that are perceived as likely to affect the
area with the positive vision agreed with the community. All such difficult tasks were
approached with transparency and care, with input as required and support from Solihull
Metropolitan Borough Council.
However, in the writing up of the work into the Plan document, it is sometimes the case that
the phraseology is imprecise, not helpful, or it falls short in justifying aspects of the selected
policy. Accordingly I have been obliged to recommend modifications so as to ensure both
clarity and meeting of the ‘Basic Conditions’. In particular, Plan policies as submitted may
not meet the obligation to “provide a practical framework within which decisions on planning
applications can be made with a high degree of predictability and efficiency” (NPPF para 17).
I bring this particular reference to the fore because it will be evident as I examine the policies
individually and consider whether they meet or can meet the ‘Basic Conditions’.

Basic Conditions
The Independent Examiner is required to consider whether a Neighbourhood Development
Plan meets the “Basic Conditions”, as set out in law following the Localism Act 2011; in
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 34

Page 7

December 2018 a fifth Basic Condition was added relating to the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017. In order to meet the Basic Conditions, the Plan must:
 have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the
Secretary of State;
 contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
 be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for the
area;
 be compatible with European Union (EU) and European Convention on Human
Rights (ECHR) obligations;
 not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017(d).
The submitted Basic Conditions Statement has very helpfully set out to address the issues in
relation to the first four of these requirements in the same order as above and, where
appropriate, has tabulated the relationship between the policy content of the Plan and its
higher tier equivalents. I note that the Local Plan is the Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Local Plan 2013. At the time of Neighbourhood Development Plan submission the fifth Basic
Condition had not been added but as the Plan does not allocate land for development and is
supportive of Berkswell’s rural features, I am satisfied that the making of the Plan
will not breach the Basic Condition relating to the Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.
I have examined and will below consider the Neighbourhood Development Plan against all of
the Basic Conditions above, utilising the supporting material provided in the Basic Conditions
Statement and other available evidence as appropriate.

The Plan in Detail
I will address the aspects of the Neighbourhood Development Plan content that are relevant
to the Examination in the same sequence as the Plan. Recommendations are identified with
a bold heading and italics, and I have brought them together as a list at the end of the
Report.
Front cover
A Neighbourhood Development Plan must specify the period during which it is to have effect.
I note that there is a reference to the Plan dates prominently and helpfully on the front cover.
The “Submission Plan Autumn 2018” label on the title page can now be dispensed with.
Recommendation 1:
Remove the “Submission Plan Autumn 2018” label on the front cover.
Contents
The Contents list will need to be reviewed once the text has been amended to accommodate
the recommendations from this Report.
Recommendation 2:
Review the “Contents” pages once the text has been amended to accommodate the
recommendations from this Report.
1. What is a Neighbourhood Development Plan?
This introductory section has now served its purpose and can be removed.
Recommendation 3:
Remove the section “What is a Neighbourhood Development Plan?” on page 3 and
renumber subsequent sections accordingly.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 35

Page 8

2. Portrait of Berkswell Parish
This is a helpful pen-picture of the Neighbourhood Area.
3. An NDP for Berkswell
This section has helpful brevity but needs a reference for the Neighbourhood Development
Plan (NDP) website in paragraph 3.8.
Recommendation 4:
Add a footnote reference for the “NDP website” mentioned in paragraph 3.8.
4. Vision and Objectives
It would be helpful to include a note after the Objectives to explain that not all of these will be
pursued through the land-use Neighbourhood Plan and an Appendix/Annex to the Plan
addresses other actions for the Parish Council.
Recommendation 5:
Add after the statement of Objectives on page 11: ‘Not all of these Objectives will be
pursued through the land-use Neighbourhood Plan and an Appendix addresses other
actions for the Parish Council’.
Planning Policies
5. Housing in Balsall Common
At the end of paragraph 5.1 there is an incorrect reference to “Appendix 2” but the Qualifying
Body has agreed that the relevant Appendix (Appendix 1) should be deleted as it represents,
as noted in paragraph 5.3, a snapshot which may mislead over the lifetime of the Plan. The
last sentence of paragraph 5.16 refers to a “minimum” distance but to accord with the
revised Policy wording – see below – the word “minimum” needs to be deleted.
Recommendation 6:
Under the sub-heading “5.Housing in Balsall Common”:
6.1 In paragraph 5.1 delete the last sentence: “See Maps in Appendix 2.”
6.2 In the last sentence of paragraph 5.16 delete “minimum”.
Policy B1: New Housing – General Principles
1. Brownfield sites
A representation queries the wording of criterion 1; partly it is queried on the basis of
comparison with the NPPF 2018 wording but, as noted above, I am Examining against the
2012 NPPF. The representation comments: “The 2012 NPPF states (Paragraph 111) that
the re-use of brownfield land should be encouraged, not that development on brownfield
land must come forward before greenfield land will be released”. I note that the Policy
wording does not say “must” but instead says “should” but the thrust of the point is valid.
Additionally I note that, given the location of the Parish within the Green Belt, the “release” of
greenfield land is a strategic matter for Solihull MBC. Accordingly, whilst a preference for the
use of brownfield land is reasonable, the wording of criterion 1 needs to be tempered to have
regard to national policy.
The Qualifying Body has suggested revised wording which is over-lengthy given that the
identification of sites for the Local Plan is a strategic matter and at an advanced stage.
2. Layouts and Accessibility
There is a concern that some of the requirements within criterion 2 are over-prescriptive and
therefore potentially in conflict with the NPPF expectation (para 59) that “design policies
should avoid unnecessary prescription or detail and should concentrate on guiding the
overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials and access of new
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 36

Page 9

development in relation to neighbouring buildings and the local area more generally”. One
representation notes that “A more flexible approach would reflect the need to design layouts
to respond to site-specific context” and another suggests that “criteria b., c., j. and k. are
deleted and replaced by a criterion that reads: Proposals should be supported by information
explaining how the design and layout will facilitate social cohesion and community safety
and security.”
The Qualifying Body has commented on criteria b & c that the suggestion that “up to 20”
dwellings is a beneficial scale derives from the existing character of the area and that the
quantum of 250 dwellings is evidenced as appropriate by the success of the existing
development at Riddings Hill. These are therefore locally sourced guidelines but should not
be presented within “General Principles” as other than guidelines.
In relation to criterion 2d Secured by Design 2019 says (para 8.3): “Whilst it is accepted that
through routes will be included within development layouts, the designer must ensure that
the security of the development is not compromised by excessive permeability”. The concern
within the criterion for the potential for “rat runs” (source and destination unspecified) could
be accommodated by a simple addition of ‘and amenity’ to the Secured by Design guidance.
In relation to criterion 2e it is unspecified what the related guidance on how to design out
“parking on pavements and verges” might be; arguably it is a behavioural/non-land-use issue
as much as a design one but it is evidently related to the levels of parking provision and this
is the subject of Policy B8.
In keeping with Policy B9 it would be appropriate to expect ‘attractive’ as well as accessible
routes in criterion 2f.
For criterion 2g a representation comments that “this criterion should specify that children’s
play areas are not necessarily required in all open spaces, only on those where the
Borough’s guidance requires it”. The need for this amendment was agreed by the Qualifying
Body.
Within criterion 2j it is suggested that the 30m distance guide is in part designed “to support
a lower density pattern of development” but this is not the case if this is part of the Solihull
standard. A representation comments: “This could be overly restrictive and not relevant for
all sites. It is also in conflict with the NPPF’s requirement for making effective use of land”.
Another representation comments that the application of the guideline could result is some
fairly unusable spaces. The Qualifying Body has clarified that the distance is intended to
apply to gardens where new and existing properties are back to back. The wording therefore
needs improved clarity whilst making it more apparent that it is a guideline.
For criterion 2k there is a need to provide a reference for “Secured by Design”.
3. Landscaping and Drainage
A representation comments: “Policy 3a should be amended to reflect that fact that not all
mature trees and hedgerows are worthy of retention. The desirability of retaining trees on
sites should be identified through the production of site specific tree surveys”. I note that the
opening to the Landscape and Design section says “wherever possible” but the basis for a
decision on retention would add clarity.
In criterion b a reference is required for the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 (which should be named in full in the absence of a glossary). In the second sentence it
would be correct to say ‘may include’ rather than “include”.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 37

Page 10

In criterion c a reference is required for the “SuDS hierarchy”. The Environment Agency has
recommended that an additional point is included “to state that all new development should
be located within Flood Zone 1 and where this is not viable, development must be steered to
land at the lowest flood risk, following the application of the Sequential Test”. Accordingly
this might become criterion c and the existing criteria c & d renumbered.
With criterion 3d – as with 2j – a representation comments that “this criterion should ideally
avoid being too prescriptive about the need for open space to be located between existing
and proposed housing. This may not always deliver the best layout in terms of a site’s
characteristics.” The Qualifying Body has however responded that “it is important that
development is seen as development of the community as a whole (old and new)”. This is
another instance where a “wherever possible” would be appropriate.
4. Building Design Principles
Within criterion a the phrases “their position and design enhances the development” and
“should be appropriate to the position proposed” are particularly open to a range of
interpretations. The salient point it would seem is that the relationship between dwellings
should be examined and justified in terms of height, scale and massing.
Within criterion c a representation queries why driveways must be the location for charging
points. The Qualifying Body responded with a proposal to add another level of complexity
about the sizing of garages. I believe it is reasonable for prospective owners to be allowed
the choice of where a charging point is located.
I believe that we have already reached a point where solar roof panels are a normal part of
house design and therefore the expectation within criterion d that houses should be
“grouped together to create design compatibility” is an inappropriate prescription.
In relation to 4e a representation notes: “the criterion would be better reflecting the need for
the provision of suitable storage of bins (and presumably cycles) rather than specifying it
should be within the garden”. The need for an amendment is agreed by the Qualifying Body.
5. Housing Mix
Within section 5 the wording of criterion a suggests that all of the listed types of housing
should be provided, including self-build and housing for older people on all sites. As a
representation notes, this would be particularly difficult on smaller sites; therefore the Policy
wording needs a slight modification.
The last bullet point of criterion 5a and criterion 5c are a duplication and only one is required.
6. Natural Environment
The opening sentence here should end with a colon.
In relation to the last Policy sentence, the opening line of the Policy says “proposals will be
required to address the following criteria”, many of these criteria being “wherever possible”.
There is therefore no value in restating this again in different words at the end of the Policy.
Recommendation 7:
Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General Principles as follows:
7.1 Reword criterion 1 as: ‘The reuse of brownfield sites will be preferred to the loss of
greenfield land’.
7.2 Combine criteria 2b, 2c & 2d and reword as follows: ‘Layouts should be designed to help
facilitate social cohesion and community security. In the Berkswell Neighbourhood Area
context this suggests that larger developments should have character areas of around 250
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 38

Page 11

dwellings and all developments should aim for clusters of around 20 dwellings. Good
legibility7 is required but the security and amenity of the development should not be
compromised by excessive through route permeability’; renumber subsequent criteria
accordingly.
7.3 In criterion 2e replace the wording after “pavements” with ‘and tree planting wherever
possible’ (picked up from Policy B3).
7.4 In criterion 2f add ‘attractive and’ before accessible.
7.5 Combine criteria 2g, 2i and 2j to read: ‘Quality public open and children’s play space
should be provided in accordance with the Solihull Green Space Strategy Review8 or the
successor document. New open and play spaces should normally be located between new
and existing housing to serve the whole community; play spaces should benefit from natural
surveillance. Where this location of the open space is not feasible, to help the transition the
distance between new and existing dwellings should be toward the upper end of the range in
the Solihull Housing Development Guidelines SPG6 or successor document ie around 30m’;
renumber criterion 2k accordingly.
7.6 Simplify criterion 3a as: ‘A site specific survey should identify which mature trees and
hedgerows make the most significant contribution to local landscape character and
biodiversity and should therefore be retained and protected. New planting to replace losses
or enhancing existing planting should use characteristic native species.’
7.7 Within criterion 3b put the full name of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities
Act 2006 alongside the acronym and provide a footnote source reference; in the second
sentence add ‘may’ between “habitats” and “include”.
7.8 At the request of the Environment Agency add an additional criterion (as c with
subsequent numbers amended accordingly) as follows: ‘All new development should be
located within Flood Zone 1 and where this is not viable, development must be steered to
land at the lowest flood risk, following the application of the Sequential Test’.
7.9 Within criterion 3c add a footnote source reference for the SuDS hierarchy.
7.10 Within criterion 3d replace “landscape buffer zones” with ‘narrow corridors’ and delete
the second sentence (section 2 having addressed this matter).
7.11 For clarity, simplify criterion 4a by removing “overlook, existing 2 storey properties and
their position and design enhances the development. Such development should not”.
7.12 Reword criterion 4c as: ‘Provision should be made per dwelling for electric vehicle
charging’.
7.13 Within criterion 4d delete “and grouped together to create design compatibility’.
7.14 Reword criterion 4e as: ‘Suitable provision should be made within curtilages for secure
storage and refuse/recycling bin enclosures’.
7.15 Within criterion 5a replace “. The mix should include but not be limited to” with ‘such as’.
7.16 Delete criterion 5c (as it duplicates an item within 5a).
7.17 Delete the last sentence of the Policy beginning “Where developers consider…”
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 39

Page 12

As amended Policy B1 meets the Basic Conditions.
6. Housing in the Rural Areas
I note that the definition of Affordable Housing referenced and included as Appendix 3 is not
the 2019 definition. Given that there may be further updates it would be simpler to reference
the NPPF Glossary at the foot of page 19.
Recommendation 8:
Replace the footnote presently on page 19 with a reference to the NPPF 2019 Glossary.
Policy B2: Rural Exception Local Needs Housing in Berkswell Village
Rural Exception sites are supported within the NPPF (para 54) and within the Solihull Local
Plan Policy P4. As I first read this Policy it is intending to accommodate multiple
developments of “1 to 2” homes should evidence of need be provided, thus making no
presumption about the scale of needs that will come forward in the future; this was confirmed
by the Qualifying Body.
Recommendation 9:
Within Policy B2:
9.1 Number the paragraphs.
9.2 In the first line make “development” plural and add ‘around’ between “of” and “1”.
As amended Policy B2 meets the Basic Conditions.
7. Protecting [the] Rural Area and Local Landscape Character
Paragraph 7.5 is no longer appropriate for a Plan on the verge of being ‘made’ and therefore
it should be deleted. In the first bullet point of paragraph 7.10 “boarded” is used instead of
‘bordered’; I understand that this derives from an error in the original text so that should be
acknowledged. In a Plan that is generally well referenced, it is surprising to find that the HER
noted in paragraph 7.18 lacks a reference as does the Ecological Report noted in the
following paragraph. However it is pleasing to see that the representation from Historic
England commends the approach as “exemplary”.
Recommendation 10:
Under the heading “Protecting [the] Rural Area and Local Landscape Character”:
10.1 Delete paragraph 7.5 and renumber subsequent paragraphs accordingly.
10.2 Within the first bullet point of paragraph 7.10 add ‘(sic) after the word “boarded”.
10.3 Add footnotes to reference the HER and the Preliminary Ecological Report in
paragraphs 7.14 and 7.19 respectively.
Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built Character
An NPPF Core Planning Principle (para 17) says planning should “take account of the
different roles and character of different areas, promoting the vitality of our main urban
areas, protecting the Green Belts around them, recognising the intrinsic character and
beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving rural communities within it”. Solihull Local
Plan Policy P10 does likewise. Unlike Policy B1, the numbering of Policy B3 (and some
subsequent Policies) involves numerous elements that are all numbered 1, 2 or 3 etc; there
needs to be a tiered numbering adopted to allow elements to be appropriately distinguished.
Landscape Character
A representation comments: “In terms of criterion 1 of this Landscape Character policy, it is
worth noting that the Balsall Common Eastern Fringe is a different landscape character area
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 40

Page 13

than the rest of the area to the north (Berkswell Landscape Character Area 4 Rural Centre,
Sub Area 4D)”. The Qualifying Body noted that “local character” within the Policy is intended
to mean ‘local to the site’ and therefore further clarity is required.
Paragraph 2 of this Policy refers to “[landscape] features of identified local heritage interest
such as ridge and furrow”; in saying “identified” and “such as” the question is begged as to
how the prospective developer will know of the location of these and the other such features
not mentioned but apparently identified. The paragraph goes on to consider “landscape
features and wildlife habitats of identified value” and again uses “identified” and “such as” but
fails to refer to the specifics in Map 2 whilst including the much more nebulous elements of
“semi-natural grassland” and “river wetlands” which the text seems to acknowledge will not
all be of equal interest/importance. Given that many of these features have been lost over
time with agricultural change it must be questionable that it is realistic/reasonable for
development to “retain” all “such” features; the Policy itself acknowledges mitigation. The
Qualifying Body has advised that the source of the “features” would be the HER and the
Preliminary Ecological Report referenced earlier. They also accepted that there is significant
overlap between paragraphs 2 and 3 and that some editing is appropriate for clarity. The
reference to “street trees” is inappropriate within a landscape Policy but I included for it
earlier under Policy B1.
Recommendation 11:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built Character” and
“Landscape Character”:
11.1 Within criterion 1 between “character” and “as” add ‘within the Neighbourhood Area’;
add a footnote reference for the Solihull Borough Landscape Character Assessment.
11.2 Combine criteria 2 & 3 and reword as follows:
‘Landscape features of heritage or wildlife value (as identified in the Historic Environment
Summary Report* and the Preliminary Ecological Report*) should be conserved according to
their significance. Where mitigation measures are appropriate the evidence based proposals
should include for locally-appropriate features such as tree-planting, hedges and ponds.’
[* indicates footnote required]
Built Character
There is some overlap between criteria 2 & 4 and the Qualifying Body has suggested a
reformatting for clarity.
Recommendation 12:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built Character” and “Built
Character”:
12.1 Swap criteria 2 & 3.
12.2 Within the renumbered criterion 3 delete the wording after “roofs”.
Heritage Assets
Paragraph 2 seems to compact together a number of different ways that heritage assets
might be harmed whilst implying that all will be considerations in every instance. I believe
that the first two sentences, in conjunction with national and Local Plan policies, are
sufficient. Further, a representation notes: “Criteria 2 should be amended to remove the
reference to ‘great’ weight being applied to the conservation of [all] heritage assets. NPPF
(2012) Paragraph 132 states that great weight should be given to the conservation of a
‘designated heritage asset’ and Policy B3 should reflect this.”
Paragraph 5 is a matter that would be dealt with through Listed Building legislation which is
not the same as that through which Local and Neighbourhood Plans are provided for.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 41

Page 14

Accordingly, whilst the point might be noted within the supporting text, it should not form part
of a land use Policy.
Recommendation 13:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built Character” and
“Heritage Assets”:
13.1 For clarity in criterion 1 replace “between” with ‘with’ and delete “and any aspect of the
proposal”.
13.2 Within criterion 2:
13.2.1 Replace the first sentence with: ‘The Parish’s heritage assets should be
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance;
13.2.2 Delete the second sentence (as it repeats criterion 1);
13.2.3 Within the third sentence replace the words “whether it has been” with ‘as
appropriate it should be’.
13.3 Delete criterion 5.
Large Agricultural Buildings in the Open Countryside
The content of criterion 1 does not match with the sub-heading; the use of ‘Non-residential’
in the heading would be more appropriate. I can see that “large” has been used to
accommodate the fact that many agricultural buildings will be permitted without the need for
a planning consent.
Recommendation 14:
Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built Character” and “Large
Agricultural Buildings in the Open Countryside”, in the latter heading replace “Agricultural”
with ‘Non-residential’.
As amended Policy B3 meets the Basic Conditions.
Local Green Spaces
This section is very thoroughly presented. However, a significant number of representations
reassert the point noted in the text in relation to the green area named as “The Recreation
Ground” (although I note the base map annotates it as “Playing Field”) that the proposed
Space is private land. The text in paragraph 7.30 acknowledges that “public access is not
one of the criteria in the NPPF”. But Planning Practice Guidance also notes: “Land could be
considered for designation even if there is no public access (e.g. green areas which are
valued because of their wildlife, historic significance and/or beauty). Designation does not in
itself confer any rights of public access over what exists at present” (Ref: 37-017-20140306).
Therefore there is no prospect that the land could be considered as public recreation space
unless the owner agreed, access rights were established or the land was leased/purchased
for this purpose. Planning Practice Guidance further clarifies that “There is no need to
designate linear corridors as Local Green Space simply to protect rights of way, which are
already protected under other legislation” (Ref: 37-018-20140306). But amongst those
making representations there seems to be an evident belief that public access is at stake.
This notion is reinforced by the survey evidence included with the Consultation Statement
accompanying the Plan which concentrates on establishing that the whole field has been
accessed by residents (not just the Right of Way footpath).
Representations also assert that the Plan assessment against the NPPF criteria overplays
the claimed recreation, tranquillity and wildlife value of the land in question and that, as a
consequence, the “demonstrably special” and “particular local significance” requirements are
not established. Further comments suggest that these concerns have been ignored or
inadequately addressed within the consultations.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 42

Page 15

I would comment that, as far as I can tell from an indistinct map within the Solihull MBC
Local Plan 2013, the land in question is within the current Green Belt. The NPPF establishes
that (para 78) “Local policy for managing development within a Local Green Space should
be consistent with policy for Green Belts”. Therefore, there is no obvious benefit from the
designation of Green Belt land as Local Green Space since it will only confer the same level
of protections from which the land already benefits. Planning Policy Guidance says: “If land
is already protected by designation, then consideration should be given to whether any
additional local benefit would be gained by designation as Local Green Space” (Ref: 37-01120140306).
However, a number of representations note that the land has been identified by Solihull MBC
(confirmed by Solihull MBC) as a site with housing potential that is actively being considered
for allocation within the Local Plan Review which is still in progress. I see that the current
Solihull MBC Draft Local Plan Supplementary Consultation notes that “Some of the sites, in
particular Barratt’s Farm, have multiple and potential complex land assembly issues. It is
important that sites such as this are considered in a comprehensive manner to avoid
piecemeal developments occurring…….Before being finally included in the plan, it will be
necessary for the varied land interests to demonstrate to the Council that they are prepared
to work on a collaborative and comprehensive basis to ensure a quality development is
possible and can be satisfactorily delivered.” The related draft Concept Masterplan appears
to have the land identified as having potential for “low density housing” whilst having a
number of other sites identified for public open space. Solihull MBC comments that this
Concept Plan should carry “little weight at this stage of the Local Plan Review process”;
however they go on to note that work around the Concept Plan “also identifies areas that
have been found to have significant ecological value, which do not include the land
proposed for the [Local Green Space]”.
Planning Practice Guidance says: “Designating any Local Green Space will need to be
consistent with local planning for sustainable development in the area. In particular, plans
must identify sufficient land in suitable locations to meet identified development needs and
the Local Green Space designation should not be used in a way that undermines this aim of
plan making” (Ref: 37-007-20140306). Given that the Neighbourhood Plan does not aim to
allocate land for housing it cannot itself conclude that local needs are capable of being met,
although I appreciate that its stated preference is for the reuse of brownfield land. However,
as the Qualifying Body has noted: “The Draft Local Plan estimates that the housing capacity
of the Recreation Ground (Blessed Robert Grissold field) site is 47 [dwellings]” whilst “The
January 2019 draft of the Local Plan identifies 1755 houses for Balsall Common of which
about 1195 of which (sic) fall within Berkswell Parish”. The housing capacity of the field is
therefore small in comparison to the potential housing allocation as a whole, but that
allocation is by no means certain at this stage.
The Qualifying Body has also commented that the Space would make an attractive and
inviting entrance to the footpath which will prospectively connect the existing and possible
new housing. But other Policy within the Plan addresses this point (and I earlier suggested a
minor modification that would improve that). And at this stage the Concept Plan – as noted
above – has yet to be resolved or adopted.
If a proposed Local Green Space meets the NPPF criteria in full (para 77) (and the other
NPPF and Guidance considerations as above) then that space should be designated. In
relation to the green area named as the “Football Ground” I am satisfied that the criteria are
met and no objectors have questioned that. However, in relation to the green area named as
the “Recreation Ground” I am not satisfied that all the criteria have been met and my
reasoning is:
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 43

Page 16



I agree that the green area is “in reasonably close proximity to the community it
serves” and no objectors have questioned that;
 I agree that the green area “is local in character and not an extensive tract of land”
and no objectors have questioned that;
 I cannot agree that the green area is “demonstrably special to the local community”.
In part this is because there clearly is no unanimity of view but also a significant
number of those that assert its significance evidently do so because of a perceived
recreational value that no longer exists (beyond the Right of Way) since the owners
fenced off the largest part of the area, as is their right. I must interpret “special” as
being ‘above the ordinary’ because the NPPF (para 77) says: “The Local Green
Space designation will not be appropriate for most green areas or open space”; from
my visit to the area it was apparent that the field named as the Recreation Ground is
indistinguishable in character from adjacent open fields which are equally
inaccessible because they are privately owned. The green area is demonstrably
used, to the extent that the Right of Way allows, and it is demonstrably green but of
themselves these are not sufficient to justify designation. However, within the
justification in the Plan it is noted that “the site is also special because of its
tranquillity and value for wildlife” and it “is surrounded by mature trees and
hedgerows which add to the sense of a quiet green oasis in the midst of a built-up
area”. In fact the green area forms the edge of the open Green Belt of which it is a
part and this will continue to be the case unless, when the new Local Plan is adopted
(after public Examination), the status of the land is changed. If the status of the land
does change then other Policies in this Plan make ample provision within any
housing development for well-located public open space to be provided that is
useable by the existing and new residents, and for the protection of mature trees.
 Even if I found a way to establish, on balance, that the green area is demonstrably
special, no evidence has been provided to show that it also “holds a particular local
significance”. A number of representations have asserted that it ‘held’ a local
significance as a recreation area but that has not endured because of restricted
access. The local authority has noted that the green area does not have any
significant ecological value according to the survey work undertaken for the draft
Local Plan. The green area is not identified within the HER and no-one has
evidenced any historical significance for it. No-one has claimed that the field has a
“particular” beauty; as I note above it is indistinguishable from adjacent agricultural
fields. There have been no other claims to “particular” significance.
Therefore, since not all the criteria have been met, I must conclude that the green area
named as the Recreation Ground should not be designated as a Local Green Space.
Recommendation 15:
Under the heading “Local Green Spaces”:
15.1 Reword paragraph 7.28 as: ‘One site is proposed as a Local Green Space for
protection in Policy B4. This is the triangle of land off Lavender Hill; Lane which includes the
football ground – see Map 4.’
15.2 Delete paragraphs 7.29 & 7.30 and renumber 7.31 as 7.29.
15.3 In paragraph 7.31 delete “second”.
15.4 Delete pages 35 – 37; on page 38 delete “Table 2” from the heading; on page 40
amend “Map 4b” to ‘Map 4’.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 44

Page 17

Policy B4: Local Green Space
Recommendation 16:
Reword Policy B4 as:
‘The following green area as shown on Map 4 is designated as a Local Green Space:
The Football Ground on Lavender Hall Lane, Balsall Common.’
As amended Policy B4 meets the Basic Conditions.
8. Protecting Berkswell Conservation Area
The NPPF (para 126) supports “a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the
historic environment”. Local Plan Policy P16 addresses the Conservation of Heritage Assets
& Local Distinctiveness. To these Policy B5 can legitimately add local detail.
Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area
As noted earlier this is one of the Policies where a tiered numbering system is required.
New Buildings
Criterion 5 unnecessarily uses “traditional” twice.
Recommendation 17:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and “New Buildings” within
criterion 5 delete “usually traditional ones”.
Extensions
In criterion 2 “fully justifiable” would more appropriately be worded as ‘fully justified’ since
this requires the design solution to be explained.
Recommendation 18:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and “Extensions” within
criterion 2 replace “fully justifiable” with ‘fully justified’.
Conversions
The Qualifying Body has advised that this section of the Policy relates to the conversion or
sub-division of non-residential properties within the Conservation Area; accordingly the title
needs to make this clear and the text needs adaptation to accommodate sub-division.
Recommendation 19:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and “Conversions”:
19.1 Replace the heading “Conversions” with ‘Conversion or Sub-Division of NonResidential Properties’.
19.2 Replace the opening sentence with: ‘Proposals for conversion or sub-division will be
supported where the existing building can accommodate such alteration without substantial
or complete rebuilding, and where the alterations do not detract from the character of the
original building, the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, or the special
interest and setting of any relevant listed buildings.’
Views and Open Spaces
Within criteria 2 the use of “maintained” is open to misinterpretation – the more appropriate
word is ‘conserved’.
Recommendation 20:
Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and “Views and Open
Spaces” in criterion 2 replace “maintained” with ‘conserved’.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 45

Page 18

As amended Policy B5 meets the Basic Conditions.
9. Conversion of Former Agricultural Buildings
Policy B6: Conversions of Former Agricultural Buildings
The Qualifying Body has clarified that this Policy relates to buildings in the open countryside
and therefore this should be added to the heading. The NPPF (para 28) supports “the
development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses”. The
Local Plan Policy 17 adds some specific cautions about buildings in the Green Belt that
should be acknowledged within Policy B6.
It is unclear what “Existing access arrangements should be used” is intended to imply. In
context it is apparently not about the position of a front door but rather vehicular access. It is
also unclear whether an existing access must be “suitable and adequate” before conversion
will be supported or if it is expected that accesses can be made “suitable and adequate” for
connecting to the local road network; some clarity is needed. I also note that parking areas
should ‘screened’ or ‘concealed’ depending on whether paragraph 4 or 5 is addressed which
is unhelpful duplication.
Recommendation 21:
Under the heading “Policy B6: Conversions of Former Agricultural Buildings”:
21.1 Add to the title ‘in the Open Countryside’.
21.2 Add paragraph numbering.
21.3 Within the first criterion replace “sensitive to the existing character and form” with
‘sensitive to the existing character, form and any special designation”.
21.4 Within the fourth criterion delete the first and last sentences and add ‘or if necessary
made suitable’ between “suitable” and “and”.
As amended Policy B6 meets the Basic Conditions.
10. Accessibility and Infrastructure
Policy B7: Improving Car Parking Facilities at Berkswell Station
As is noted within the text, Policy B7 is not supported with sufficient evidence to justify the
allocation of a specific site, instead the Policy is supportive of provisions to enhance rail
passenger facilities which would contribute to the Plan’s sustainability objectives. In their
representation the Environment Agency “noted that in paragraph 10.7 [it says] that there is ‘a
narrow strip of land in Flood Zone 3’ to the west side of the West Coast Main Line. Within the
policy text, it states that ‘development of a two storey car park building and / or an extension
to the current car park to the West of the West Coast Main Line’. Development within Flood
Zone 3 should be avoided and the extension of the car park should take place within Flood
Zone 1. We would recommend including this within the Policy wording.”
Recommendation 22:
Within Policy B7 at the end of the first sentence add ‘provided these do not fall within Flood
Zone 3’.
As amended Policy B7 meets the Basic Conditions.
Policy B8: Car parking and Cycle Storage
Government policy on provision for car parking starts from a different place to that apparent
in the Berkswell Plan. Whilst I am examining against the NPPF 2012 the most up-to-date
indication of policy is provided by the NPPF 2019 which says (para 102) “patterns of
movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 46

Page 19

schemes, and contribute to making high quality places” and (para 105) “If setting local
parking standards for residential and non-residential development, policies should take into
account: a) the accessibility of the development; b) the type, mix and use of development; c)
the availability of and opportunities for public transport; d) local car ownership levels; and e)
the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low
emission vehicles” and (para 106) “Maximum [my emphasis] parking standards for
residential and non-residential development should only be set where there is a clear and
compelling justification that they are necessary for managing the local road network [my
emphasis] or for optimising the density of development in city and town centres and other
locations that are well served by public transport”. The pre-amble to Policy B8 is therefore
confused and it certainly should not read as a rehearsed argument with the Local Planning
Authority.
Whilst there may be a basis for requiring developers to address the criteria set down in the
NPPF para 105 the Policy does not actually seem to require anything to be done with the
“evaluation” (and the evaluation factors do not all seem to relate to the “number of spaces”).
A representation comments: “The emerging Local Plan Policy P8 (Managing Travel Demand
and Reducing Congestion) states that the Council will support development proposals which:
‘take an evidence-based approach to demonstrate appropriate car parking provision, taking
account of location, trip rates and, where relevant, travel plan targets and forecast levels of
car ownership’. It is considered that the evidence-based approach would be more
appropriate than seeking to apply specific parking standards through the NP.”
I find no convincing evidence that there is a basis for some of the more extreme measures:
 Requiring all roads, whatever their likely usage, to allow for on-street parking despite
the thrust of the Policy to require off-street parking provision would have a significant
impact on design/densities achievable. The Qualifying Body has suggested that there
is already a successful precedent for this on the Kemps Green estate, Balsall
Common but the Plan document notes that the use of electric charging points will
generally require off-street parking.
 “1 additional car parking space per bedroom” excluding the garage whatever its size
– I doubt that any development could meet this standard and meet the design
requirements of Policy B3. The Qualifying Body would however wish this to be the
“default position” but with a preference for adequate communal parking to
supplement on-site parking.
 “Unless the developer can demonstrate that the garage provision will actually be
used for parking” – no indication is provided on how this might be achieved. The
Qualifying Body has subsequently suggested that this might be addressed by better
design but the NPPF cautions against being too prescriptive (para 59).
However the Qualifying Body has demonstrated that there are comparatively high levels of
car ownership and poor public transport provision within the Neighbourhood Area.
Unfortunately some of their suggested remedies, provided in response to my questions, are
beyond the scope of a land-use Neighbourhood Plan. The thrust of the NPPF expectation is
that the developer should be able to devise an appropriate approach based on evidence – it
is therefore appropriate for Policy B8 to draw attention to the evidence (although this may of
course vary over time) and expect that it will be acted upon.
Recommendation 23:
23.1 Delete paragraph 10.13 except for the sections 4 & 5 within that (which add information
to that in paragraphs 10.11 & 10.12) which should be given their own paragraph numbers
and paragraph 10.14 renumbered accordingly.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 47

Page 20

23.2 Reword Policy B8 as follows:
‘Development proposals must have appropriate regard for the higher levels of car ownership
evident within the Berkswell Neighbourhood Area. Whilst suitable parking provision must be
integral to the design of schemes, the number of off-street parking spaces for residents and
visitors should be justified and provided on the basis of an evidenced assessment of:
a) the accessibility of the development;
b) the type, mix and use of development;
c) the availability of and opportunities for public transport;
d) local car ownership levels; and
e) the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultralow emission vehicles.
As far as is practical, the guidance provided within the Manual for Streets17 and Secured by
Design should inform the location and design of vehicle and cycle parking provision.
As amended Policy B8 meets the Basic Conditions.
Improving Accessibility for All
Policy B9: Improving Access for All
Paragraph 35 of the NPPF says that plans should “create safe and secure layouts which
minimise conflicts between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians”. Local Plan Policy P7 says that
accesses should be “safe, attractive, overlooked and direct on foot, by bicycle and from
public transport”. Whilst the purpose of this Policy provides local detail and is generally clear
paragraph 1 applies to all “development proposals” but not all will be close or adjacent to the
identified routes; therefore a “where applicable” needs to be included.
Recommendation 24:
In Policy B9 add “where applicable” to paragraph 1 between “should” and “include”.
As amended Policy B9 meets the Basic Conditions.
11. Business
Businesses in the Rural Area
Policy B10: Supporting Local Businesses
The NPPF paragraph 28 supports a prosperous rural economy. Policy B10 notes and has
regard to the Local Plan Policy P17. As written the three criteria for the first paragraph of the
Policy read as 1 “and” (implicitly) 2 “and” (explicitly) 3 but the third element cannot be
intended to be a requirement of every business proposal; some modification of this aspect is
therefore required.
Recommendation 25:
Within the first paragraph of Policy B10:
25.1 Move the “and” from the end of criterion 2 to the end of criterion 1.
25.2 Alter criterion 3 to become a second paragraph for the Policy and reword as:
‘Where proposals are for the reuse or conversion of former agricultural buildings, workshops
or previously used brownfield sites they should demonstrate appropriate regard for Policy
B6.’
As amended Policy B10 meets the Basic Conditions.
12. Next Steps
The content here is no longer relevant but might usefully be replaced with a commitment to
keep the Plan under review. This point is also made within a representation. The Qualifying
Body agreed.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 48

Page 21

Recommendation 26:
Replace the content under and the heading “12. Next Steps” with a new heading ‘Review’
and new content: ‘The Qualifying Body will monitor the impact of the Plan and undertake a
review of the Plan no later than 3 years after the adoption of the new Local Plan.’
Appendices
A representation has commented: “As there is so much uncertainty over the likely housing
allocations within Balsall Common the strategic sites referred to, and shown in Appendix A to
the NP, should be removed from the Plan and it should be explicitly stated that the NP is not
making any housing allocations”. Whilst I appreciate that the Appendix will have been
informative to many participating in the consultations, given that there is continuing
uncertainty over the extent of allocations that will be made in the Local Plan I tend to agree
that the detail of Appendix 1 will cause confusion, particularly once the Plan has become
part of the Development Plan.
Recommendation 8 includes a footnote linking to the NPPF definition of Affordable Housing
and so Appendix 2 can also be deleted.
Appendices 3, 4 & 5 are evidently not part of the land use Neighbourhood Plan. It would be
clearer if these three Appendices and their related text were brought together to form an
Appendix or Annex of the non-land use content. Planning Practice Guidance says: “Wider
community aspirations than those relating to development and use of land can be included in
a neighbourhood plan, but actions dealing with non land use matters should be clearly
identifiable. For example, set out in a companion document or annex” (Paragraph: 004
Reference ID: 41-004-20170728).
Recommendation 27:
27.1 Delete Appendices 1 & 2.
27.2 Bring together Appendices 3, 4 & 5 as an Annex for non-planning content.

Other matters raised in representations
Some representations have suggested additional or expanded content that the Plan might
include. However, given that the Neighbourhood Development Plan sits within the
development plan documents as a whole, keeping content pertinent to Berkswell identified
priorities is entirely appropriate. As noted within the body of this Report it is a requirement
that a Neighbourhood Development Plan addresses only the “development and use of land”.
Even within this restriction there is no obligation on Neighbourhood Development Plans to be
comprehensive in their coverage – unlike Local Plans - not least because proportionate
supporting evidence is required.
Many representations indicate support for all or parts of the draft Plan and this helps in a
small but valuable way to reassure that the extensive public consultation has been
productive.
I have not mentioned every representation individually but this is not because they have not
been thoroughly read and considered in relation to my Examiner role, rather their detail may
not add to the pressing of my related recommendations which must ensure that the Basic
Conditions are met.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 49

Page 22

European Union (EU) and European Convention on Human Rights
(ECHR) Obligations
A further Basic Condition, which the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan must
meet, is compatibility with European Union (EU) and European Convention on Human
Rights (ECHR) obligations.
There is no legal requirement for a Neighbourhood Development Plan to have a
sustainability appraisal. The Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats
Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Report carried out by Solihull Metropolitan
Borough Council for the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan (May 2018)
considered whether or not the content of the Plan required a Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC and associated
Environmental Assessment of Plan and Programmes Regulations 2004. In accordance with
Regulation 9 of the SEA Regulations 2004, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
determined that “the policies in the Berkswell NDP are likely to be in general conformity with
the strategic policies of the adopted Development Plan. It is therefore unlikely that there will
be any significant environmental effects arising from the Berkswell NDP that were not
covered in the Sustainability Appraisal / SEA of the Solihull Local Plan and the Gypsy and
Traveller Site Allocations Plan. 5.2.2. It is therefore concluded that the Berkswell NDP does
not require a full SEA to be undertaken” and “it is also concluded that the Berkswell NDP
does not require a full HRA to be undertaken.” In making this determination, the Borough
Council had regard to Schedule 1 of the Regulations and carried out consultation with the
relevant public bodies who concurred with the screening opinion. Particularly in the absence
of any adverse comments from the statutory bodies or the Local Planning Authority, I can
confirm that the Screening undertaken was appropriate and proportionate and confirm that
the Plan has sustainability at its heart.
The Basic Conditions Statement submitted alongside the Berkswell Neighbourhood
Development Plan confirms that “the Submission Neighbourhood Plan is fully compatible
with the European Convention on Human Rights. It has been prepared with full regard to
national statutory regulation and policy guidance, which are both compatible with the
Convention. The Plan has been produced in full consultation with the local community. The
Plan does not contain policies or proposals that would infringe the human rights of residents
or other stakeholders over and above the existing strategic policies at national and districtlevels, as demonstrated below.” No evidence has been put forward to demonstrate that this
is not the case.
Taking all of the above into account, I am satisfied that the Berkswell Neighbourhood
Development Plan is compatible with EU obligations and that it does not breach, nor is in
any way incompatible with, the ECHR.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 50

Page 23

Conclusions
This Independent Examiner’s Report recommends a range of modifications to the Policies,
as well as some of the supporting content, in the Plan. Modifications have been
recommended to effect corrections, to ensure clarity and in order to ensure that the Basic
Conditions are met. Whilst I have proposed a significant number of modifications, the Plan
itself remains fundamentally unchanged in the role and direction set for it by the Qualifying
Body.
I therefore conclude that, subject to the modifications recommended, the Berkswell
Neighbourhood Development Plan:






has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the
Secretary of State;
contributes to the achievement of sustainable development;
is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for the
area;
is compatible with European Union (EU) and European Convention on Human Rights
(ECHR) obligations;
does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017(d).

On that basis I recommend to the Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council that, subject
to the incorporation of modifications set out as recommendations in this report, it is
appropriate for the Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan to proceed to
referendum.
Referendum Area
As noted earlier, part of my Examiner role is to consider whether the referendum area should
be extended beyond the Plan area. I consider the Neighbourhood Area to be appropriate
and no evidence has been submitted to suggest that this is not the case. I therefore
recommend that the Plan should proceed to referendum based on the Neighbourhood Area
as approved by the Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council on 18th July 2017.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 51

Page 24

Recommendations:

(this is a listing of the recommendations exactly as they are

included in the Report)
Rec
.
1

Text

Reason

Remove the “Submission Plan Autumn 2018” label on the front cover.

For clarity

2

Review the “Contents” pages once the text has been amended to
accommodate the recommendations from this Report.

3

Remove the section “What is a Neighbourhood Development Plan?”
on page 3 and renumber subsequent sections accordingly.

For clarity
and
accuracy
For clarity

4

Add a footnote reference for the “NDP website” mentioned in
paragraph 3.8.

For clarity

5

Add after the statement of Objectives on page 11: ‘Not all of these
Objectives will be pursued through the land-use Neighbourhood Plan
and an Appendix addresses other actions for the Parish Council’.

For clarity

6

Under the sub-heading “5.Housing in Balsall Common”:

For clarity
and
correction

6.1 In paragraph 5.1 delete the last sentence: “See Maps in Appendix
2.”
6.2 In the last sentence of paragraph 5.16 delete “minimum”.
7

Amend Policy B1: New Housing – General Principles as follows:
7.1 Reword criterion 1 as: ‘The reuse of brownfield sites will be
preferred to the loss of greenfield land’.
7.2 Combine criteria 2b, 2c & 2d and reword as follows: ‘Layouts
should be designed to help facilitate social cohesion and community
security. In the Berkswell Neighbourhood Area context this suggests
that larger developments should have character areas of around 250
dwellings and all developments should aim for clusters of around 20
dwellings. Good legibility7 is required but the security and amenity of
the development should not be compromised by excessive through
route permeability’; renumber subsequent criteria accordingly.

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Conditions 1
&3

7.3 In criterion 2e replace the wording after “pavements” with ‘and tree
planting wherever possible’ (picked up from Policy B3).
7.4 In criterion 2f add ‘attractive and’ before accessible.
7.5 Combine criteria 2g, 2i and 2j to read: ‘Quality public open and
children’s play space should be provided in accordance with the
Solihull Green Space Strategy Review8 or the successor document.
New open and play spaces should normally be located between new
and existing housing to serve the whole community; play spaces
should benefit from natural surveillance. Where this location of the
open space is not feasible, to help the transition the distance between
new and existing dwellings should be toward the upper end of the
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 52

Page 25

range in the Solihull Housing Development Guidelines SPG6 or
successor document ie around 30m’; renumber criterion 2k
accordingly.
7.6 Simplify criterion 3a as: ‘A site specific survey should identify
which mature trees and hedgerows make the most significant
contribution to local landscape character and biodiversity and should
therefore be retained and protected. New planting to replace losses or
enhancing existing planting should use characteristic native species.’
7.7 Within criterion 3b put the full name of the Natural Environment
and Rural Communities Act 2006 alongside the acronym and provide
a footnote source reference; in the second sentence add ‘may’
between “habitats” and “include”.
7.8 At the request of the Environment Agency add an additional
criterion (as c with subsequent numbers amended accordingly) as
follows: ‘All new development should be located within Flood Zone 1
and where this is not viable, development must be steered to land at
the lowest flood risk, following the application of the Sequential Test’.
7.9 Within criterion 3c add a footnote source reference for the SuDS
hierarchy.
7.10 Within criterion 3d replace “landscape buffer zones” with ‘narrow
corridors’ and delete the second sentence (section 2 having
addressed this matter).
7.11 For clarity, simplify criterion 4a by removing “overlook, existing 2
storey properties and their position and design enhances the
development. Such development should not”.
7.12 Reword criterion 4c as: ‘Provision should be made per dwelling
for electric vehicle charging’.
7.13 Within criterion 4d delete “and grouped together to create design
compatibility’.
7.14 Reword criterion 4e as: ‘Suitable provision should be made within
curtilages for secure storage and refuse/recycling bin enclosures’.
7.15 Within criterion 5a replace “. The mix should include but not be
limited to” with ‘such as’.
7.16 Delete criterion 5c (as it duplicates an item within 5a).
7.17 Delete the last sentence of the Policy beginning “Where
developers consider…”
8

Replace the footnote presently on page 19 with a reference to the
NPPF 2019 Glossary.

9

Within Policy B2:

For clarity
and
correction
For clarity

9.1 Number the paragraphs.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 53

Page 26

9.2 In the first line make “development” plural and add ‘around’
between “of” and “1”.
10

Under the heading “Protecting [the] Rural Area and Local Landscape
Character”:
10.1 Delete paragraph 7.5 and renumber subsequent paragraphs
accordingly.

For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

10.2 Within the first bullet point of paragraph 7.10 add ‘(sic) after the
word “boarded”.
10.3 Add footnotes to reference the HER and the Preliminary
Ecological Report in paragraphs 7.14 and 7.19 respectively.
11

Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built
Character” and “Landscape Character”:
11.1 Within criterion 1 between “character” and “as” add ‘within the
Neighbourhood Area’; add a footnote reference for the Solihull
Borough Landscape Character Assessment.

For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

11.2 Combine criteria 2 & 3 and reword as follows:
‘Landscape features of heritage or wildlife value (as identified in the
Historic Environment Summary Report* and the Preliminary Ecological
Report*) should be conserved according to their significance. Where
mitigation measures are appropriate the evidence based proposals
should include for locally-appropriate features such as tree-planting,
hedges and ponds.’
[* indicates footnote required]
12

Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built
Character” and “Built Character”:
12.1 Swap criteria 2 & 3.

For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

12.2 Within the renumbered criterion 3 delete the wording after “roofs”.
13

Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built
Character” and “Heritage Assets”:
13.1 For clarity in criterion 1 replace “between” with ‘with’ and delete
“and any aspect of the proposal”.
13.2 Within criterion 2:
13.2.1 Replace the first sentence with: ‘The Parish’s heritage
assets should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance;
13.2.2 Delete the second sentence (as it repeats criterion 1);
13.2.3 Within the third sentence replace the words “whether it has
been” with ‘as appropriate it should be’.

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Conditions 1
&3

13.3 Delete criterion 5.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 54

Page 27

14

Under the headings “Policy B3: Protecting Local Landscape and Built
Character” and “Large Agricultural Buildings in the Open Countryside”,
in the latter heading replace “Agricultural” with ‘Non-residential’.

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

15

Under the heading “Local Green Spaces”:

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

15.1 Reword paragraph 7.28 as: ‘One site is proposed as a Local
Green Space for protection in Policy B4. This is the triangle of land off
Lavender Hill; Lane which includes the football ground – see Map 4.
15.2 Delete paragraphs 7.29 & 7.30 and renumber 7.31 as 7.29.
15.3 In paragraph 7.31 delete “second”.
15.4 Delete pages 35 – 37; on page 38 delete “Table 2” from the
heading; on page 40 amend “Map 4b” to ‘Map 4’.
16

Reword Policy B4 as:
‘The following green area as shown on Map 4 is designated as a Local
Green Space:
The Football Ground on Lavender Hall Lane, Balsall Common.’

17

Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and
“New Buildings” within criterion 5 delete “usually traditional ones”.

18

Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and
“Extensions” within criterion 2 replace “fully justifiable” with ‘fully
justified’.

19

Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and
“Conversions”:
19.1 Replace the heading “Conversions” with ‘Conversion or SubDivision of Non-Residential Properties’.
19.2 Replace the opening sentence with: ‘Proposals for conversion or
sub-division will be supported where the existing building can
accommodate such alteration without substantial or complete
rebuilding, and where the alterations do not detract from the character
of the original building, the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area, or the special interest and setting of any relevant
listed buildings.’

20

Under the headings “Policy B5: Berkswell Conservation Area” and
“Views and Open Spaces” in criterion 2 replace “maintained” with
‘conserved’.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 55

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1
For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1
For clarity
and
correction
For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Conditions 1
&3

For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1
Page 28

21

Under the heading “Policy B6: Conversions of Former Agricultural
Buildings”:
21.1 Add to the title ‘in the Open Countryside’.
21.2 Add paragraph numbering.

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Conditions 1
&3

21.3 Within the first criterion replace “sensitive to the existing
character and form” with ‘sensitive to the existing character, form and
any special designation”.
21.4 Within the fourth criterion delete the first and last sentences and
add ‘or if necessary made suitable’ between “suitable” and “and”.
22

Within Policy B7 at the end of the first sentence add ‘provided these
do not fall within Flood Zone 3’.

For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Conditions 1
&3

23

23.1 Delete paragraph 10.13 except for the sections 4 & 5 within that
(which add information to that in paragraphs 10.11 & 10.12) which
should be given their own paragraph numbers and paragraph 10.14
renumbered accordingly.

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Conditions 1
&3

23.2 Reword Policy B8 as follows:
‘Development proposals must have appropriate regard for the higher
levels of car ownership evident within the Berkswell Neighbourhood
Area. Whilst suitable parking provision must be integral to the design
of schemes, the number of off-street parking spaces for residents and
visitors should be justified and provided on the basis of an assessment
of:
a) the accessibility of the development;
b) the type, mix and use of development;
c) the availability of and opportunities for public transport;
d) local car ownership levels; and
e) the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging
plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles.
As far as is practical, the guidance provided within the Manual for
Streets17 and Secured by Design should inform the location and
design of vehicle and cycle parking provision.
24

In Policy B9 add “where applicable” to paragraph 1 between “should”
and “include”.

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

25

Within the first paragraph of Policy B10:

For clarity
and
correction
and to meet

25.1 Move the “and” from the end of criterion 2 to the end of criterion
1.
Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 56

Page 29

25.2 Alter criterion 3 to become a second paragraph for the Policy and
reword as:
‘Where proposals are for the reuse or conversion of former agricultural
buildings, workshops or previously used brownfield sites they should
demonstrate appropriate regard for Policy B6.’

Basic
Condition 1

26

Replace the content under and the heading “12. Next Steps” with a
new heading ‘Review’ and new content: ‘The Qualifying Body will
monitor the impact of the Plan and undertake a review of the Plan no
later than 3 years after the adoption of the new Local Plan.’

For clarity

27

27.1 Delete Appendices 1 & 2.

For clarity
and to meet
Basic
Condition 1

27.2 Bring together Appendices 3, 4 & 5 as an Annex for non-planning
content.

Berkswell Neighbourhood Development Plan Independent Examiner’s Report

Page 57

Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Meeting date:

30th May 2019

Report to:

Cabinet Member for Climate Change,
Planning and Housing

Subject/report
title:

St. Bernard’s Road, Olton Conservation Area Article 4(1) Direction

Report from:

Assistant Director - Growth and Development

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Jon Beesley - Senior Development Officer - Conservation
jon.beesley@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☒ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private
report:

Public

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To consider the making of an article 4(1) direction to remove permitted development
rights from properties within part of the Olton Conservation Area with immediate
effect, in order to encourage alterations that preserve or enhance the area’s historic
character.

2.

Decisions recommended

2.1

To authorise the making of a direction under article 4(1) of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended, to
remove permitted development rights from properties on and adjacent to St. Bernard’s
Road within the Olton Conservation Area.

2.2

To delegate authority to the Director for Managed Growth and Communities to serve
all necessary notices in connection with the making and confirmation of the direction.

2.3

To delegate authority to the Director for Managed Growth and Communities to confirm
the direction in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder.

Page 59

3.

What is the issue?

3.1

This report has been prepared in response to concerns raised by Olton ward
councillors and during discussions with three local residents, following the loss of
original leaded light windows from a locally listed building in St. Bernard’s Road,
Olton. The alterations were carried out lawfully as permitted development, however,
the loss of the original windows and installation of double glazed PVCu replacements
has resulted in harm to the special interest of the locally listed building and the
Conservation Area. The local residents have expressed concern that other properties
within St. Bernard’s Road may be under threat from similar proposals. The cumulative
effect of inappropriate minor changes over time will gradually erode the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. The residents have requested the making of
an article 4 (1) direction to bring such works under planning control, to ensure that any
minor changes are implemented in a manner appropriate to the area’s historic
character.

3.2

Olton Conservation Area was designated in September 1980 in recognition of the
area’s special interest, as a good example of late 19th and early 20th century suburban
development. The boundary was subsequently extended in 1996 and again in 1999.
The Conservation Area contains a rich variety of house styles with many fine
examples that chart the history of domestic architecture from 1870 to 1930.

3.3

A noteworthy characteristic of the Olton Conservation Area is the wealth of original
architectural detailing that has survived; including painted timber windows and front
doors, many with coloured glass leaded lights; original roofing materials; prominent
chimney stacks and pots; ornate bargeboards and front boundary walls. The quality
and extent of the surviving architectural detailing makes a significant contribution to
the area’s special architectural and historic interest. However, the special interest that
justified the original conservation area designation is at risk from inappropriate minor
changes and alterations.

3.4

The Olton Conservation Area Appraisal, adopted in 2005, recognises the importance
of the surviving architectural detailing. It highlights the potential threat to the
Conservation Area’s character from inappropriate alterations and recommends the
making of article 4(1) directions.

3.5

In situations where the exercise of permitted development rights would be harmful to
the character or appearance of all or part of a conservation area, a local planning
authority may make an article 4(1) direction to bring such works under planning
control.

3.6

The making of a direction does not prevent the type of development to which it
applies; it simply introduces a requirement to submit a planning application for the
specified works. When determining planning applications, local planning authorities
have a statutory duty under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of conservation areas.

3.7

A detailed survey of 112 properties within and adjacent to St. Bernard’s Road has
been carried out to provide the evidence base for the making of the proposed
direction. A total of 93 of the properties within the survey area are of historic and

Page 60

architectural interest, the remaining 19 are of more recent construction. The survey
confirmed the high quality and broad extent of the surviving historic fabric and
architectural detailing. It also highlighted the range of unsympathetic changes and
alterations that have already been carried out as permitted development.
3.8

The following types of development, contained within Part 1, Part 2 and Part 11 of
Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development Order, would be brought under
planning control following the making of the article 4(1) direction for all dwelling
houses in the area shown in Plan A (Appendix 1):
● the enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwelling house,
including the removal and replacement of doors and windows, where any part of the
enlargement; improvement or alteration would front a public highway;
● any alteration to the roof of a dwelling house, including the removal and
replacement of existing roofing materials, where any part of the roof slope fronts a
public highway;
● the erection of a porch outside an external door of a dwelling house, where
the external door fronts a public highway;
● the provision of hard surfacing within the curtilage of a dwelling house,
where it would front a public highway;
● the installation, alteration or replacement of a chimney, flue or soil pipe on a
dwelling house;
● the installation, alteration or replacement of a microwave antenna on a
dwelling house, where the installation, alteration or replacement of the antenna would
front a highway;
● the erection, construction, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or
other means of enclosure of any building, where the gate, fence, wall or other means
of enclosure would front a public highway;
● the painting of the exterior of any building or work, where the painted part of
the building or work would front a highway;
● the demolition of the whole or any part of a gate, fence, wall or other means
of enclosure, where the gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure fronts a public
highway.

3.9

The following types of development, contained within Part 2 and Part 11 of Schedule 2
of the General Permitted Development Order, would be brought under planning
control following the making of the article 4(1) direction for all buildings other than
dwelling houses in the area shown in Plan B (Appendix 2):
● the erection, construction, improvement, alteration of a gate, fence, wall or
other means of enclosure of any building, where the gate, fence, wall or other means
of enclosure would front a public highway;
● the painting of the exterior of any building or work, where the painted part of
the building or work would front a highway;
● the demolition of the whole or any part of a gate, fence, wall or other means
of enclosure, where the gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure fronts a public
highway.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

Minor changes and alterations to properties within the Conservation Area will continue

Page 61

to be carried out lawfully as permitted development. Without the making of an article
4(1) direction there will be no planning control over such development. The continued
loss of historic fabric and architectural detailing would result in the gradual erosion of
the character of the Conservation Area.
4.2

Removing permitted development rights and bringing minor works under the control of
the local planning authority would ensure that change could be managed in a manner
that preserves or enhances the character of the Conservation Area. In deciding
whether or not a direction would be appropriate, the local planning authority should
identify the potential harm that the direction is intended to address. When making a
direction, the local planning authority must be satisfied that the types of development
to which it relates would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area or would
constitute a threat to local amenity. The making of the direction proposed in this report
would be consistent with this requirement.

4.3

The two options available to the local planning authority are an immediate and a nonimmediate direction:
●An immediate direction brings the specified development types under the
control of the planning system on the date on which it is made and is appropriate for
use in situations where the potential threat is imminent. The types of development
proposed for inclusion may be withdrawn under an immediate direction. Following the
making of the direction, the local planning authority would be in a position to influence
changes with immediate effect and could prevent further harm to the character of the
Conservation Area. However, the local planning authority may be liable to pay
compensation to those whose permitted development rights have been removed for
abortive expenditure or other loss or damage directly attributable to the removal of
permitted development rights. For development within the curtilage of a dwelling
house (Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development Order),
compensation would only be payable in respect of planning applications submitted
within 12 months of the date on which the direction took effect.
●A non-immediate direction is appropriate for use in situations where the
potential threat is not immediate. Property owners are notified of the making of a nonimmediate direction, which only takes effect when it is confirmed. During the period
between the making and confirmation of the direction, property owners may continue
to exercise their permitted development rights and no planning control is in place. The
local planning authority may avoid compensation liability for development within the
curtilage of a dwelling house (Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the General Permitted
Development Order), if the period between the making and confirmation of the
direction is greater than 12 months.

4.4

It is not possible to identify the scale of the potential threat or the timescale in which
any potential works may take place. The survey has revealed that the loss of
architectural detailing and historic fabric is on-going and without a direction in place,
this trend is likely to continue. The making of a non-immediate direction may result in
an initial increase in the loss of architectural details and historic fabric following
notification, as works are implemented ahead of the date on which the direction takes
effect.

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Page 62

imposes a duty on local planning authorities to formulate and publish proposals for the
preservation and enhancement of conservation areas. The making of an immediate
direction, bringing the specified development types under the immediate control of the
local planning authority, is the preferred option. This would allow the local planning
authority the opportunity to positively manage development proposals to prevent
further harm to the special interest of this part of the Olton Conservation Area. The
article 4(1) direction would help prevent the on-going loss of important architectural
detailing.
6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan: How will the options/proposals in this
report contribute to the delivery of the key themes in the Council Plan?:
☐

Improve Health and Wellbeing – Not applicable

☒

Managed Growth – The positive management of development through the
increased planning control over minor alterations within the Olton Conservation
Area will preserve and enhance the Borough’s historic environment. The
preservation and enhancement of the Borough’s historic areas is fundamental
to its success as an attractive place to live, work and invest.

☐

Build Stronger Communities – Not applicable

☐

Deliver Value – Not applicable

6.2

Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular
communities: Not applicable

6.3

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 The Olton Conservation Area Appraisal, adopted in 2005 following public consultation,
advocates the use of directions to prevent the loss of important architectural detailing.
The extent of the harm to the character of the Conservation Area that has occurred,
since the adoption of the appraisal in 2005, is unknown. However, the recent removal
of original leaded light windows from a property of architectural and historic interest
has highlighted the on-going threat to the character of the Conservation Area and the
need for a direction.
6.3.2 This report has been prepared following representations from local residents
requesting the making of a direction within the Conservation Area, as a matter of
urgency. The residents have been updated on progress on the matter at meetings
with officers and ward members and via e-mail.
6.3.3 Notice of the making of the direction will be by local advertisement; by site notices at
two or more locations within the area and individual service on each property (unless it
is impracticable to identify or locate individual owners or occupiers). Notice of the
making of the direction must also be forwarded to the Secretary of State. The notices
will specify a period of not less than 21 days within which any representations
concerning the direction may be made. All representations received must be

Page 63

considered by the local planning authority before a decision is made whether or not to
confirm the direction.
6.4

Financial implications:

6.4.1 The making of a direction removing permitted development rights will impose an
additional cost burden on property owners. Property owners wishing to carry out the
types of development described in the direction will incur costs in the preparation of
planning applications and the payment of planning fees. In order to minimise the cost
burden on property owners, the permitted development rights to be removed will be
the minimum necessary to protect the character of the Conservation Area.
6.4.2 The making of the direction will result in additional planning applications being
received and processed. It is considered that the number of applications generated
will not be significant and can be managed within existing resources. Article 4 (1)
direction planning applications are no longer exempt from payment of local authority
planning fees. The planning fees generated by the applications should offset any
potential strain on existing resources.
6.5

Legal implications:

6.5.1 Schedule 2 of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015, as amended, grants a general planning permission for certain
minor types of development. Article 4(1) of the Order provides a legal power to the
local authority to remove or restrict the permitted development rights granted by
Schedule 2; the effect being that applications must be made to the local planning
authority for planning permission for the operations specified in the direction.
6.5.2 There is an established procedure for the making, consultation, notification,
confirmation and implementation of an article 4(1) direction. When making a direction,
the local planning authority must be satisfied that it is expedient that development that
would normally benefit from permitted development should not be carried out unless
planning permission is granted for it on application. For directions with immediate
effect, the local planning authority must consider that the development to which the
direction relates would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area or would
constitute a threat to amenity. Failure to act in accordance with proper procedure and
without sound justification may lead to Judicial Review and possible claims for
compensation. The direction proposed in this report satisfies the legal requirements
and will enable the local planning authority to exercise its statutory responsibility to
ensure development proposals preserve or enhance the character or appearance of
the Olton Conservation Area.
6.5.3 The contents of this report and the actions recommended are proportional, balancing
the needs of residents against the local planning authority’s statutory duty to
safeguard the character or appearance of the Conservation Area and are considered
to be compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998 as amended.
6.6

Risk implications:

6.6.1 Under section 108 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the local planning
authority may be liable to pay compensation to those whose permitted development

Page 64

rights have been withdrawn:
● if planning permission is refused for development, which would have been
permitted development if it were not for a direction; or
● if planning permission is granted subject to more limiting conditions than the
General Permitted Development Order would normally allow, as a result of a direction
being in place.
6.6.2 For development within the curtilage of a dwelling house under Part 1 of Schedule 2 of
the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO), compensation would only be
payable in respect of planning applications refused or approved subject to conditions
(as detailed in para. 6.6.1 above) within 12 months of the date on which the immediate
direction was made.
6.6.3 The liability to pay compensation in respect of the 12 month time limit in respect of
applications for development within the curtilage of a dwelling house under Part 1 of
Schedule 2 of the GPDO can be avoided, if a non-immediate direction is made and
brought into effect 12 months after the date on which it was made. However, during
the 12 month notification period, no planning control would be in place. The loss of
historic fabric may continue, resulting in further harm to the special interest of the
Conservation Area.
6.6.4 The time limit for compensation liability does not apply to planning applications
refused or approved subject to conditions (as detailed in para.6.6.1 above) in respect
of development under Part 2 and Part 11 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO.
6.6.5 Compensation may be payable for abortive expenditure or other loss or damage
directly attributable to the removal of permitted development rights. All claims for
compensation must be made within 12 months of the date on which the planning
application for development is either rejected or approved subject to conditions that go
beyond those allowed in the GPDO.
6.7

Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 No direct Equality or Diversity implications have been identified.
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

Appendix 1: Plan A: Article 4(1) Direction Schedules I and II: Dwelling houses.

7.2

Appendix 2: Plan B: Article 4(1) Direction Schedule II: Buildings other than dwelling
houses.

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

Olton Conservation Area Appraisal 2005.
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Planning/Olton_Appraisal.pdf

8.2

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/made

Page 65

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

Not applicable

Page 66

Appendix 1
PLAN A: Article 4(1) Direction St. Bernard’s Road, Olton Conservation Area Schedules I & II.
Dwelling houses

Page 67

Appendix 2
PLAN B: Article 4(1) Direction St. Bernard’s Road, Olton Conservation Area Schedule II.
Buildings other than dwelling houses

Page 68

